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A MESSAGE FROM THE CEO OF XETA TECHNOLOGIES

==

To the Co-Owners of XETA Technologies:

D

Net income up 77%! Debt reduced 60%! Stock price up 432%!

I am very proud of our employees and very pleased with our fiscal 2003 results. These year-over-
year comparisons would be remarkable in a normal economic environment but should be considered
spectacular considering we just completed the third consecutive year of highly unpredictable

economic malaise.

Success such as this against this strange and tough economic backdrop requires careful planning,
excruciating cost controls, intense and continuous scrutiny of all internal processes and procedures,
rapid and flexible reaction to the limited number of viable opportunities and the courage, integrity,

wisdom, willingness and patience to avoid poor long-range business decisions.

In addidon to these sterling results, and despite continued stagnaton in the capital-spending arena,

we also were able to establish two extremely significant growth engines that will serve us well in the future.

In the first half of the year, we announced the launch of our mid-market inidative. Throughout

the year the necessary steps were taken to firmly establish this program.

In the second half of the year, we announced the signing of our Premium Partner agreement with
Nortel Networks. This step alone effectively doubles our market reach, providing us the opportunity
to introduce our expertise to the huge Nortel Networks customer base. We aggressively added the
required core technical eipertise and instituted the necessary processes to efficiently leverage our
significant strengths into this new arena. This agreement is just beginning to bear fruit, as numerous

service contracts have already been awarded to XETA.




A MESSAGE FROM THE CEO OF XETA TECHNOLOGIES

Significantly, we were able to accomplish all of this and still maintain our leadership position in
our primary stated objective — being the nation’s premier provider of the new and technically complex

world of converged voice, data and video communications.

As we anticipated, the Information Technology industry is rapidly changing. Our customers’
traditional telecom and IT departments are being consolidated as their entire networks are being
integrated into one vital infrastructure. This metamorphosis requires their integration of voice, data

and video into one network with heightened emphasis on security, reliability and mobility.

Providing value to customers means not only delivering a great product but also listening carefully
and responding quickly to their needs. It is through this passion that we have been able to predict,
adjust and adapt to this changing market environment. Our own transformation of the past four years

has uniquely positioned XETA at the forefront of this historic opportunity in our marketplace.

Without question, the longer this economic downturn lasts, the better positioned we will be to
capitalize on the economic recovery when it occurs. Many think the long-awaited economic recovery
has recently begun. I don’t necessarily disagree. Assuming the improvements we’ve seen in the past
few months are for real this time and not just another “false recovery,” we fully expect many new and
dramatically exciting events during the upcoming year. We are prepared and anxious to re-initiate the
rapid and steady growth pattern XETA experienced for many years prior to the onset of this current
three-year economic downturn. The difference this time is that we have many, many more growth

engines in place than we did three years ago.

This gives me great enthusiasm regarding our future.

Sincerely,

it £,

Jack R. Ingram
Chairman, CEQ and President

January 26, 2004
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Financial Qverview

Five Year Financial Review

REVENUES AND INCOME
Systems
installation and Service sales
Other revenues
Total Revenues

After Tax Net Income

EPS-Diluted

FINANCIAL POSITION
Net Working Capital

Goodwill, net

Total Assets

Long Term Debt
Shareholders’ Equity
Book Valug/Share

ROE

(All numbers in thousands except per share amounts and rados. All data adjusted for 2:1 splits on August 13, 1999 and July 17, 2000.)

Weighted Average Commaon Shares Outstanding
Weighted Average Common Share Equivalents

Ratio of Current Assets to Current Liabilities

2003 2002 2007 2000 1999
21,550 21,852 52,028 70,231 17,857
23,339 25390 33,105 31,220 18,766

1,792 498 921 968 640
52,681 53,740 86,054 102,418 37,263

1,558 878 3481 6,462 4,283

$ 016 $ 009 $ 036 $ 066 $ 046
9,828 9,375 9,061 8,350 8,021
9,960 9,866 9,698 9,762 9,254
4,205 8,580 11,214 15,145 8,021

1.43 1.63 1.60 1.54 1.98
25,727 25,782 25,945 20,579 0
50,673 53,384 67,285 74,149 25,316
4,030 11,565 14,853 17,983 0
34,61 32,521 31,197 25,565 14,551

$ 348 $ 330 $ 322 $ 282 $ 157

4.50% 2.70% 11.16% 2528% 29.43%
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World-wide sales of VOIP lines to businesses
grew more than 50% last year according
to research estimates.



about 20% of new phones shipped to
U.S. businesses will use VOIP technology.

- Wall Street Journal, Special Report on Technology, January 12, 200




Since the invention of the telephone
more than a century ago, every business
knows it needs the latest phone system
to communicate efficiently and quickly
with customers.

In the commercial world of business,
the companies supplying the phones, and
developing and installing the systems, are
known as the telephony industry.
ARRIVING AT THE POINT OF
CONVERGENCE. Today, the world of
telephony has evolved with new technolo-
gies. Systems for transmitting voice, data,
and video have converged. In the industry
the buzzword is “convergence.” The
modern office building of the future can
now converge all transmissions — voice,
data, video, fax, email, pager, internet,
conferencing — into one integrated
communications system.

With the new Voice Over Internet
Pratocol (VOIP) phone systems, business
people can direct all calls to their VOIP
phone, a laptop or desktop computer. They
can answer calls through either their tele-
phone or computer. Now they can access all
communications from one central place —

anytime, anywhere. Their “office” becomes

wherever they are. And by using internet
connections, their long distance calls are
priced as economically as email. So VOIP is
the “new office” of the future. More efficiency,
more productivity, more convenience.

When a business person leaves their
office today, they can use their computer to
check voice mail, set up conference calls
easily (simply click on and drag a number to a
conference folder), and forward calls to their
cell phone, home phone or any other number.

Three years ago XETA made a commit-

‘L\

ment to become the premier provider of\
converged communications system
the Wall Street ]ournal; in a Jan. 12th, 2004,

Special Report on Techﬁology, called the

VOIP phone “Ready for Prime Time.”
TELEPHONY HAS ALWAY/

i

LED IN APPLYING NEW
TECHNOLOGY. Itisestimated that by
the end of 2004, some 20% of new phones
shipped to U.S. businesses will be VOIP.
The numbers will rise dramatically year
after year.

For the past three years, the weak U.S.
economy has curtailed business leaders from
making capital investments in new technology.

Market researchers note that there is
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rergence.

bl 1A is the leader at the point o



"Moare than ever before, XETA
is prepared to meet the
high-tech needs for converged
communications systems of
clients in the demanding
Enterprise market.




When XETA began its transformation plan four
years ago, the company made key acquisitions and
integrated those compantes into the XETA corporate
culture. In the process, the company focused on
building the necessary high-tech competencies to
compete effectively in the market.

ENVISIONING A DYNAMIC MARKET
POSITION. Entering the Enterprise or commercial
market presented many challenges. The barriers from
manufacturers and leading companies are set high. It’s
an intensely competitive $20 billion market with long-
established relatonships.

Not surprisingly, many customers are reluctant to
change communications or phone systems. It’s always
easier to justify paying for an upgrade to an existing
system, compared to taking on a complete new system.

To become a significant force in this market, XETA
knew it had to develop new relationships with some of
the leading companies. After carefully reviewing the
market dynamics, XETA chose to become a business
parmer with Avaya and Nortel Networks.

The Enterprise market is essentally divided into
thirds, with one third being Avaya customers, one third
Nortel Networks customers, and a final third composed
of many other manufacturers.

By aligning XETA first with Avaya, and this last
year with Nortel Networks, XETA cemented relation-

ships that will serve as growth engines in the future.

‘The requirements to become an Avaya or Nortel
Networks business parmer are stringent, and XETA has
met, or in many cases exceeded, expectations. The Nortel
Networks relationship essentally doubled XETAs market
reach, allowing XETA to broaden its customer base.
PUTTING GROWTH ENGINES INTO
PLACE. While XETA will continue to pursue large
national accounts, this past year the company also
focused on the mid-market accounts, which are more
regional in nature.

Additionally, XETA chose to acquire expertise
and products that would be compatible with customers
in the healthcare and government segments of the
Enterprise market. While the company does not claim
these are focused “vertical” markets, as is the case for
XETA in the hospitality/lodging segment, they do
represent market strengths with proven capabilities
and experience.

In pardcular, becoming GSA-certified to provide
advanced communications systems to the Federal
government allows XETA to serve other state and
local agencies. This certification is very important,
because security issues with voice systems are critical.

Without question, the market dynamics are
converging with XETA capabilities. XETA is at the

forefront of the “new office” of the future.
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MEETING THE CHALLENGES OF
CHANGE. One of the fundamental fears of
customers is resistance to change. Everyone is quite
familiar with the challenges of change, especially in
this high-tech world.

The communications system is the very heartbeat
of a company or organization, and is at the core of its
swrvival. If an advanced system goes down or is hard
to use, millions of dollars in revenue per day can be
lost forever.

XETA developed its excellent reputation for service
by meeting the demands of the lodging industry, which is
highly service intensive. That market required XETA to
have a true natonwide presence in sales and service.
With a foundation built in lodging, XETA developed a
corporate culture that essentally said, “We’ll make sure it
works, and we’ll fix it quickly if there’s a problem.”

In today’s Enterprise market, many companies are
quick to sell and install the product, and then walk away.
When problems occur, they respond by saying, “That’s
not our problem, just call so-and-so.”

XETA has always taken the opposite approach. XETA
works with the customer and stays with a project undl it is
complete. In fact, XETA often serves as lead consultant
with the customer to contact other vendors until a problem
is resolved.

XETA remains a leader in service and continues to

be recognized for its outstanding record of service.

CREATING AN ATTITUDE FOR
UNCONDITIONAL ACCOUNTABILILTY.
The key to service is attitude and training. Over the
years XETA has invested heavily in a state-of-the-art
24/7/365 Service Center, and a comprehensive training
facility and program. Beginning in 1991, to help the
company evolve in technology leadership, XETA
made a commitment to only employ people who were
computer literate. That strategy has expanded XETA’s
ability to understand and service the new converged
communications systems.

Customers today want seamless integration of their
communications systems. They want voice experts and
data experts who will actually “talk” to each other and
assure the new technologies will work. At XETA, there’s
no gap between voice and data. Everyone is on the same
team to provide unconditional accountability, reliability
and end-to-end solutions.

There are many disciplines converging today at
XETA to position the company well into the future as the
premier provider of advanced communications systems.

The product is ready.

The market is ready.

The economy is ready.

XETA is ready.
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Notice regarding forward-looking statements:
This document contains forward-looking statements, which are subject to the provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. These statements include trends and conditions in the U.S. economy and the Company's markets; and expectations regarding FY04

sales, revenues, margins and expenses. These and other forward-looking statements (generally identified by such words as “expects,”

"o "ou

“plans,” “believes,” “anticipates,” and similar words or expressions) reflect management’s current expectations, assumptions and beliefs
based upon information currently available to management. Investors are cautioned that all forward-looking statements are subject to
certain risks and uncertainties which are difficult to predict and that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected.
Many of these risks and uncertainties are described in Part I, item 7 of the Company’s 10-K Report under the heading “Outlook and Risk

Factors,” contained in this document. Consequently, all forward-looking statements should be read in conjunction with such risk factors.



UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

[x] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2003

[ 1 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

COMMISSION FILE NO. 0-16231
XETA Technologies, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Oklahoma 73-1130045
(State or other jurisdiction of (LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identificadon No.)
1814 West Tacoma

Broken Arrow, Oklahoma 74012
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (918) 664-8200 19

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
Common stock, $0.001 par value
(Title of Class)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the past 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant
was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes_v No
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information state-
ments incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [ ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
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The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant, computed by reference
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
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through 14 hereof.
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PART I

Our disclosure and analysis in this report contains some forward-looking statements. Forward-looking state-
ments give our current expectations or forecasts of future events, but are not guarantees of performance. Actual
results may differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements. Many factors mentioned in this
report will be important in determining future results. Therefore, you are requested to read the more detailed
cautionary statement about forward-looking statements set forth in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” below, and to consider all forward-looking statements
in light of the risks and uncertainties described under the heading “Outlook and Risk Factors” under Item 7
below.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Development and Description of Business

XETA Technologies, Inc., (“XETA”, the “Company”, “we”, or “our”) an Oklahoma corporation formed in
1981, is a leading provider of communications solutions including: converged systems applications such as VoIP,
wireless, contact centers, unified messaging, video solutions, as well as traditional voice and data solutions. We
specialize in providing these solutions to multi-location mid-size and large companies throughout the United
States. In addition to selling these products to customers, we derive a significant portion of our revenues and
gross profits from the installation and maintenance of these systems, utilizing our nation-wide network of
Company-employed design engineers and service technicians as well as our 24-hour, 7-days-per-week call center
located in our headquarters building in Broken Arrow, Oklahoma.

We entered the commercial market as a voice and data integrator in fiscal 1999. Prior to that time, our tradi-
tional focus had been on the telecommunications needs of the lodging industry, selling and servicing our own
proprietary call accounting systems and Hitachi PBX systems. Early in 1999, we became a reseller of Avaya, Inc.,
(“Avaya”) formerly Lucent Technologies’ PBX systems. In late 1999, we acquired St. Louis-based U.S.
Technologies Systems, Inc. (“UST”), which largely established for us a nationwide beachhead to deliver telepho-
ny applications to the broader commercial market. In early 2000, we acquired Portland, Oregon-based Advanced
Communications Technologies, which allowed us to strengthen our services and sales presence in the Pacific
Northwest and add competencies in call centers, unified messaging, converged systems and data networking sys-
tems. Late in 2000, we acquired St. Louis-based PRO Networks Corporation, which allowed us to enter the
VoIP market and more firmly entrenched us in the traditdonal data networking market. Concurrently with this
acquisition, we also acquired Seattle-based KMI, Inc., a consulting firm specializing in LAN/WAN networking
solutions and unified messaging. In June 2003, we became a “Premium Partmer” with Nortel Networks, Inc.
(“Nortel Networks”). Nortel Networks’ share of the U.S. communications market is similar in size and loyalty to
that of Avaya. Therefore, we have significantly expanded our potential market by adding this product line.

Despite battling difficult economic conditions for the past three years, we believe our long-term strategy of
becoming an integrated communications solutions provider to the broader commercial market has proven to be
on target. In our view, the market acceptance of converged voice and data products, specifically VoIP products, is
finally accelerating and we have recently enhanced our market position by adding the Nortel Networks product
line to our existing Avaya and Hitachi products, effectively doubling our market of potential customers. In addi-
tion, we have steadily increased both the depth and breadth of our technical capabilities in these new technolo-
gies, further establishing ourselves as one of the premier voice and data integrators in the United States, and one
of the few that has nation-wide reach.

We completed fiscal 2003 financially stronger than at any time in the past three years. Having maintained
our profitability throughout the economic downturn by carefully controlling our costs, we have also shed more
than $20,000,000 in debt since October 31, 2000. During the fourth quarter of this year, we moved our credit
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facility to a new bank and restructured the remaining debt on more favorable terms, thereby reducing our per
quarter cash flow previously committed to debt reduction by over $500,000. Under our new credit facility, we
have $7.5 million available under a revolving line of credit for working capital expansion.

As we enter fiscal 2004, the economy appears to be improving and the pessimism that has plagued the busi-
ness sector for three years seems to be improving. In addition, most communications equipment providers,
ourselves included, have experienced improved order rates during the last portion of calendar 2003. However,
since early 2001 there have been several short periods of improvement like this, only to be followed by swift and
sudden downturns. Therefore, we will continue to balance our investment in growth initiatives with tight cost
controls until the economy is on a more stable growth track.

Commercial Products

We sell a broad range of communications systems and software for commercial enterprises including Voice
Over IP (“VoIP”), call centers, customer relationship management, wireless, and messaging systems. In the past
three years, the technology that drives these systems has migrated from traditional, stand-alone voice systems to
fully networked communications servers that are integrated into data networks. These converged voice and data
systems provide customers with enhanced functionality, lower maintenance costs, and lower toll costs.

We design, install and maintain communications systems manufactured by Avaya and Nortel Networks.
Both of these manufacturers hold significant portions of the communications equipment market and are migrat-
ing their customer bases to the new converged technology platform. We are one of the largest Avaya dealers in
the U.S. Avaya sells a variety of media servers and gateways. The heart of these systems is the Avaya Commun-
ications Manager which is an open, scalable, highly reliable and secure telephony application. It provides user and
system management functionality, intelligent call routing, application integration and extensibility, and enterprise
communications networking. The Communications Manager runs on proprietary Avaya media servers to control
a wide variety of Avaya proprietary media gateways and communications devices. We also sell Avaya’s media
server 8100, formerly known as the IP600, to mid-sized enterprises or as part of larger customers’ networks.
Avaya also has a wide range of messaging systems marketed under the names Intuity™ Messaging Solutions,
Octel, and Partner messaging. We also market Avaya’s unified messaging systems under the name Unified
Communications Center. In a unified messaging environment, users can access voice mail, email and fax messages
seamlessly throughout the day from their desktops.

As stated above, we became a “Premium Partmer” with Nortel Networks in June, 2003. As a Premium
Partner, we can provide a complete range of communications solutions offered by Nortel Networks. This prod-
uct portfolio includes solutions for circuit-switched or packet switched networks. Migration from traditional
telephony systems to VoIP is available under the Meridian, Succession, Norstar and Business Communication
Manager family of products. We offer Nortel Networks messaging systems marketed under the CallPilot name.
These systems provide flexible and scaleable messaging options for call answering, automated attendant, fax mes-
saging and desktop integration. We market the Nortel Networks Symposium call center product portfolio.
These multi-media products combine traditional telephone contacts with web-based contacts using advanced skill
based routing. Networked call centers can be managed with a single platform and self-service applications with
advanced speech recognition which can provide 24-hour, seven day a week convenience to customers. Nortel
Network’s open architecture and evergreen design philosophy enables customers to benefit from changing tech-
nologies while retaining their initial investment.

We sell data networking products to the commercial market under non-exclusive dealership agreements with
Avaya, Cisco Systems Inc., Nortel Networks, and Hewlett-Packard Co.

Sales of communications systems and products to the commercial market represented 40%, 41% and 49% of
total revenues during fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.



Hospitality Products

Communications Systems. We distribute Avaya’s DEFINITY® Guestworks™ Systems, Hitachi’s 5000® Series
Digital Communications Systems, and the Nortel Networks’ product line to the hospitality industry under
nationwide, non-exclusive dealer agreements. These systems are equipped with lodging specific software, which
integrates with nearly all aspects of the hotel’s operations. We also offer a variety of related products such as voice
mail systems, analog telephones, uninterruptible power supplies, announcement systems, and others, most of
which also have lodging-specific software features. Most of these products are sold in conjunction with the sale of
new communications systems and, with the exception of voice mail systems, are purchased from regional and
national suppliers.

Call Accounting Products. We also market a line of proprietary call accounting systems under the Virtual XL®
(“VXL”) series name. Introduced in 1998, the VXL is a PC-based system designed to operate on a hotel’s local or
wide area network, and if that network is connected to the Internet, the VXL can also be accessed via an Internet
connection. The VXL systems are our latest technology in a series of call accounting products we have success-
tully marketed since our inception. Many of those earlier products remain in the field and are supported by our
service and technical staff.

Sales of communications systems and products to the lodging industry represented 12%, 11%, and 12% of
total revenues in fiscal 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

Installation and Services

We provide nation-wide customer service, project management, professional services, installation and con-
sulting to support our customers. This extensive services organization is one of the key differentiators between
our competitors and us. The purchase price of our systems typically includes charges for professional services,
project management activities, and installation costs, all of which are reflected as installation and service revenues
in our financial statements.

Qur service organization includes our National Service Center (“NSC”) housed at our headquarters building
in Broken Arrow, OK. Our NSC supports our customers who have purchased maintenance contracts on their
systems, as well as other customers who purchase service on a time and materials basis. We employ a network of
highly trained technicians who are strategically located in major metropolitan areas and can be dispatched by the
NSC to support our customers in the field or install new systems. We also employ a cadre of design engineers
(the Professional Services Organization “PSO”) trained in the design of the new, converged networks discussed
above. The PSO provides high-end services to assist our customers in navigating their way to a cost-effective and
productivity-boosting network design. Much of the work done by the PSO represents pre-sales work and is often
not recovered in revenues, representing a significant investment. We believe, however, that by hiring the most
qualified personnel possible and keeping their talents in-house, we have built a competitive advantage in the mar-
ketplace as most of our competitors do not have the financial strength to make this investment. Finally, we have a
boutique software consulting operation to assist customers in Microsoft Exchange and Unified Messaging appli-
cations. Revenues from our software consulting business are mostly derived from the Pacific Northwest region
and represent less than 2% of total revenues.

For our distributed products, we typically pass on the manufacturer’s limited warranty, which is generally one
year in length. Labor costs associated with fulfilling the warranty requirements are generally borne by us. For
Avaya products, we attempt to sell Avaya’s post=warranty maintenance contracts, for which we earn a commission.
In some circumstances however, we sell our own post-warranty maintenance plan. Most of these contracts are
with our lodging industry customers. Nortel Networks and Hitachi, unlike Avaya, do not have their own field
service forces. Therefore, for these products, we attempt to sell our own post-warranty maintenance contract.
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For proprietary call accounting products sold to the lodging industry, we provide our customers with a
limited one-year warranty covering parts and labor. Subsequent to the expiration of the warranty, we offer after-
market service contracts to our lodging customers under one year and multi-year service contracts. We earn a
significant portion of our recurring service revenues from lodging customers who maintain service contracts on
their systems.

Installation and service revenues represented 44%, 47%, and 38% of total revenues for fiscal years 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

Marketing

Our marketing efforts to the commercial sector (non-lodging) are targeted at the “enterprise” space, which
we define as mid-sized to large commercial customers. We especially prefer complex, multi-site applications in
which we can leverage our in-house PSO capabilities and our standard nation-wide implementation capabilities.
We market our products and services primarily through our direct sales force, but also through a variety of other
means including networking at trade shows and conferences, and through relationships with Avaya’s direct sales
force. Through these relationships, Avaya selects dealers to assist in fulfilling a customer’s order for some of its
major accounts. We have carefully positioned ourselves as a preferred dealer by building our in-house engineer-
ing capabilities, providing nationwide implementation services, and through access to our 24 X 7 service center.
We aggressively market these capabilities and differentiators to the Avaya direct sales force who generally select
the dealers for their accounts.

In addition to the broad commercial sector, we also have marketing initiatives in two specific markets: middle
market customers located in targeted metropolitan areas and the federal government. These initiatives generally
encompass having sales personnel dedicated to understanding the unique needs and buying channels of these
markets and tailoring our solutions designs and implementation to these markets.

Our marketing efforts to the lodging industry rely more heavily on our experience and reputation. Over the
course of serving this market for 20 years, we have built strong long-term relationships with a wide range of per-
sonnel (corporate hotel chain personnel, property management officials, industry consultants, hotel owners, and
on-site financial or operating officers) that can be the key decision makers for the purchase of hotel telecommu-
nications equipment. We have relatonships with nearly all hotel chains and major property management compa-
nies. These relationships are key to our past and future success and our lodging marketing efforts are targeted at
strengthening and deepening those relationships rather than the more broad promotional efforts sometimes
employed in our marketing efforts to the commercial sector.

In addition, we offer a variety of sales programs to the lodging industry, the most significant of which is the
XETAPLAN program. Under the XETAPLAN program, customers are provided one of our call accounting
products for a period of three to five years in exchange for a monthly fee paid to us. Service on the products is
also included in the contract. For communications systems we sell to the lodging industry, we offer a package of
value-added services including a call accounting system and a service package with a specified number of free
labor hours and weekly appointments with our certified technicians to correct minor malfunctions or to perform
routine maintenance.

Major Customers

During fiscal 2003, we did not have any single customer that comprised more than 10% of our revenues.




Backlog

At December 18, 2003 our backlog of orders for systems sales was $6.2 million compared to $7.0 million at the
same time last year. We expect all of this backlog to ship and be recognized as revenue by October 31, 2004.

Competition

Commercial. The market for the communications systems products and services we sell to commercial cus-
tomers is highly competitive. As communications systems rapidly evolve from stand-alone voice systems to highly
integrated, software-driven, IP-based systems, they become subject to more rapid technological change. We sell
the Avaya and Nortel Networks product lines to our commercial customers. The customer bases of these two
companies represent approximately 60% of the total market for sales of communications systems. Generally,
established customers have made prior investments in either an Avaya or Nortel Networks system and they
typically do not convert their communications infrastructure to another vendor’s products due to the expense
involved and the high level of satisfaction with the product. Therefore, most of the competition is at the dealer
level competing for replacements, expansions, or upgrades to existing systems. In the Avaya product line, the
dealer community is comprised of a few larger dealers with super-regional or nationwide capabilities such as us,
and several hundred smaller dealers, most of which concentrate on a particular metropolitan area.

In the Nortel Networks product line, sales of systems is dominated by a group of very large, well-capitalized,
and well-established companies, generally known as the former Regional Bell Operating Companies (‘RBOC’”).
In addition to competing with the RBOC’s, we also compete with other larger Nortel Networks dealers similar in
size and financial strength to us as well as several hundred smaller dealers who focus on smaller geographies.

Hospitality. We sell Avaya, Hitachi, and Nortel Networks communications systems to the lodging market and,
as such, face similar competitive pressures to those discussed above under “Commercial Competition”. However,
since the lodging market is a small, niche market, we believe our most effective competitive strengths are the per-
formance and reliability of our proprietary hospitality systems and our high level of service commitment to this
unique market. While we believe that our reputation and nation-wide presence contribute significantly to our
success in the lodging market, there can be no assurance given that we will be able to continue to expand our
market share in the future.

Manufacturing

All of the assembly of systems relates to our proprietary call accounting systems sold exclusively to the lodg-
ing industry. As a mature product line, these systems comprise less than 2% of our total revenues. We assemble
these products, which include the XL.®, Virtual XL®, and XPERT® systems, from an inventory of components,
parts and sub-assemblies obtained from various suppliers. These components are purchased from a variety of
regional and national distributors at prices which fluctuate based on demand and volumes purchased. Some com-
ponents, although widely distributed, are manufactured by a single, usually foreign, source and are therefore sub-
ject to shortages and price fluctuations if manufacturing is interrupted. We maintain adequate inventories of
components to mitigate short-term shortages and believe the ultimate risk of long-term shortages is minimal.
Our proprietary products are based on PC technology, which is continually and rapidly changing. As a result,
some of the components originally designed for use in our systems have been phased out of production and
replaced by more advanced technology. To date, these substitutions have not forced us to substantially redesign
our systems and there has been minimal effect on the overall system cost. There can be no assurance given, how-
ever, that future obsolescence of key components would not result in unanticipated delays in shipments of sys-
tems due to redesign and testing of assemblies.
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We use outside contractors to assemble our proprietary printed circuit boards. The components and blank
circuit boards are purchased, inventoried, and supplied to the outside contractors for assembly and quality control
testing. We perform various quality control procedures, including powering up completed systems and allowing
them to “burn-in” before being assembled into a final unit for a specific customer location, and performing final
testing prior to shipment.

Employees

At December 12, 2003, we employed 300 employees. There were no part-time employees.

Copyrights, Patents And Trademarks

We recognize that our reputation for quality products and services gives value to our lodging products and
service offerings names. Therefore, we place high importance upon protecting such names by obtaining regis-
tered trademarks where practicable and appropriate. We own registered United States trademarks on the follow-
ing names for use in the marketing of our services and systems: “XETA,” “XETAXCEL,” “XACT,” “XPERT,”
“XPERT+,” “XL,” “XPANDER,” “Virtual XL.,” and “XTRAMILE”. All of these marks are registered on the
principal register of the United States Patent and Trademark Office, with the exception of XPANDER®, which is
registered on the supplemental register.

We attempt to protect our proprietary technology through a combination of trade secrets, non-disclosure
agreements, copyright claims, and technical measures. We believe that patent protection is less significant to pro-
tecting our proprietary technology and technical expertise than the other measures listed above. For this reason,
we have never applied for patents on our hardware or software technology with the exception of the technology
for “XPANDER.”

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive office and Service Center are located in a 37,000 square foot, Company-owned,
single story building located in a suburban business park near Tulsa, Oklahoma. This facility also houses our
warehouse and assembly areas to support our hospitality sales channel. The building is located on a 13-acre tract
of land. The property is subject to a mortgage held by Bank of Oklahoma, NA, to secure our credit facility.

Our commercial channel shipping operations are primarily located in leased facilities near St. Louis,
Missouri. In addition to the warehouse, this facility houses sales staff, technical design, professional services, and
installation support personnel. We also lease other office space throughout the U.S. for sales, consulting, and
technical staff and have informal office arrangements with our regional technicians to allow for some storage of
spare parts inventory.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On August 1, 2003, the Software & Information Industry Association (“SIIA”), an association of software
publishers, contacted us by letter and claimed that we had violated the Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. § 501, et seq. by
allegedly using unlicensed software in our business. SIIA made demand that we audit all of our computers and
servers to determine whether we used both licensed and/or allegedly unlicensed software for any of SIIAs 965
members. We conducted this audit and determined that some software present on a limited number of our com-
puters was unlicensed. Even though many of these programs were located on personal computers utilized by
employees for both personal and business use, or on computers that were “inherited” through our various acqui-
sitions and were most likely loaded prior to our acquisition of these companies, we have potential exposure to




damages under the law for possessing unlicensed software. Consequently, we have recorded a loss contingency
representing our best estimate of the potential damages based upon available facts of the claim at the present
time. We initiated settlement negotiations with SIIA but the nature of our liability and the amount of damages
due STIA was in dispute. We therefore filed a declaratory judgment in the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of Oklahoma on December 1, 2003 seeking a judicial determination of liability and damages. Based on
our review of the claim, the results of our internal review of potentially unlicensed software, and discussion with
legal counsel, we do not believe that the ultimate resolution of this claim will have a material adverse effect on
our financial position or results of operations. This action is still pending.

Since 1994, we have been monitoring numerous patent infringement lawsuits filed by Phonometrics, Inc., a
Florida company, against certain telecommunications equipment manufacturers and hotels who use such equip-
ment. While we were never named as a defendant in any of these cases, several of our call accounting customers
were named defendants and notified us that they will seek indemnification under the terms of their contracts with
us. However, because there were other equipment vendors implicated along with us in the cases filed against our
customers, we never assumed the outright defense of our customers in any of these actions. All of the cases filed
by Phonometrics against our customers were originally filed in, or transferred to, the United States District
Court for the Southern District of Florida. In October 1998, the Florida Court dismissed all of the cases filed
against the hotels for failure to state a claim. After years of appeals by Phonometrics, all of which were lost on the
merits, a final order dismissing the cases with prejudice was entered in November 2002, and the defendant hotels
have been awarded attorney fees and costs against both Phonometrics and its legal counsel. Phonometrics contin-
ues to dispute the amount of fees awarded in some cases, and this issue continues to be litigated by Phonometrics.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Our directors and executive officers are set forth below. There is no family relationship between any of the
named persons.

Name Age Positions with Company

Jack R. Ingram 60 Chairman of the Board,
_Chief Executive Officer, and President

Robert B. Wagner 42 Chief Financial Officer, Vice President of Finance,
Secretary, Treasurer, and Director

Larry N. Patterson 47 Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing

Mr. Ingram has been our Chief Executive Officer since July 1990. He also served as our President from July
1990 until August 1999 and re-assumed that position in June 2001. He has been a director since March 1989.
Mr. Ingram’s business experience prior to joining Xeta was concentrated in the oil and gas industry. Mr. Ingram
holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Petroleum Engineering from the University of Tulsa.

Mr. Wagner has been our Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer since March 1989. He has
been with us since July 1988 and became a member of the Board of Directors in March 1996. Mr. Wagner is a
Certified Public Accountant licensed in Oklahoma and received his Bachelor of Science Degree in Accounting
from Oklahoma State University.
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Mr. Patterson joined us in March 2000 and serves as Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing. Prior to
his employment with us, Mr. Patterson worked for Exxon Corporation and held various executive positions in
Europe, Asia and Latin America with Exxon Company, International. He is a member of the American
Management Association and is active in Organizational Development, Leadership Development and Investment
Management activities. Mr. Patterson received his Bachelor of Science Degree in Engineering from Oklahoma
State University.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Our Common Stock, $.001 par value, is currently traded on the over-the-counter market and is reported in
the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation (“NASDAQ”) System under the symbol
“XETA.”

The high and low bid prices for the Common Stock, as reported by the National Association of Securites
Dealers through its NASDAQ System, for each of the quarters during our two most recent fiscal years are set
forth below. These prices reflect inter-dealer prices, without adjustment for retail mark-ups, mark-downs or
commissions and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

2003 2002
High Low High Low
Quarter Ending:
January 31 $4.06 $1.29 $6.20 $3.63
Aprit 30 250 1.86 7.00 478
July 31 571 255 6.00 1.80
October 31 6.06 4.62 255 1.05

We have never paid cash dividends on our Common Stock. Payment of cash dividends is dependent upon our
earnings, capital requirements, overall financial condition and other factors deemed relevant by the Board of
Directors. Currently, we are prohibited by our credit facility from paying cash dividends.

As of December 15, 2003, the latest practicable date for which such information is available, we had 186
shareholders of record. In addition, based upon information received as of December 15, 2003, we have approxi-
mately 5,195 shareholders who hold their stock in brokerage accounts.



Equity Compensation Plan Information

Plan Category

Number of securities
to be issued upon
exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding
securities reflected in

column (a))
(@) (b) ©
Equity compensation
plans approved by 623,600 $7.61 93,740
security holders
Equity compensation
plans not approved by 685,400 $5.86 0
security holders
Total 1,309,000 $6.69 93,740

(1) All of these options were granted as part of an initial compensation package to several different officers upon
their hiring. These options generally vested or were earned over periods ranging from one to three years, and
are exercisable for a period of ten years from the date of grant or date earned.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

For the Year Ending Cctober 31, 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Results of Operations
Systems sales $27,550 $27,852 $52,028 $70,231 $17.857
Installation and Service sales 23,339 25,390 33,105 31,220 18,766
Other revenues 1,792 498 921 968 640
Total Revenues 52,681 53,740 86,054 102,419 37,263
Cost of equipment sales 19,622 21,384 36,261 47,480 10,412
Cost of installation and services 16,548 18,803 23618 21,627 12,206
Cost of other revenues & corporate COGS 2,193 1,956 2,753 2,482 655
Total Cost of Sales 38,363 42,143 62,636 71,589 23,273
Gross Profit 14,318 11,597 23,418 30,830 13,990
Operating expenses 11,210 10,459 16,069 18,452 1,622
[ncome from operations 3,108 1,138 7,343 12,378 6,368
Interest and other income (expense) (545) 309 (1,623) (1,761) 865
Income before taxes 2,563 1,447 5,726 10,617 7,033
Provisions for taxes 1,005 563 2,245 4156 2,750
Net Income $ 1,558 § 878 $ 3,481 $ 6461 $ 4,283
Eamings per share — Basic $ 016 $ 009 $ 038 $ 077 $ 053
Earnings per share — Diluted $ 016 $ 009 $§ 036 $ 066 $ 046
Weighted Average Common Shares Qutstanding 9,828 9,375 9,067 8,350 8,021
Weighted Average Common Share Equivalents 9,960 9,866 9,698 9,792 9,254
As of October 31, 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Balance Sheet Data:
Working Capital $ 4,204 $ 8,580 $11,214 $15,145 $ 8,021
Total Assets 50,673 59,384 67,285 74,149 25316
Long Term Debt, less current portion 4,030 11,565 14,853 17,983 —
Shareholders’ Equity 34,611 32,521 31,197 25,565 14,551



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Cautionary Statement regarding Forward-Looking Statements

In the following discussion and elsewhere in this report, we make forward-looking statements regarding
future events and our future performance and results. These and other forward-looking statements are not guar-
antees of performance, but rather reflect our current expectations, estimates, and forecasts about the industry and
markets in which we operate, and our assumptions and beliefs based upon information currently available to us.
Forward-looking statements can generally be identified by words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “targets”,
“plans,” “believes,” “intends,” “projects,” “estimates,” and similar words or expressions. These forward-looking
statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, which are difficult to predict. Thus, actual results may differ
materially and adversely from those expressed in such statements. Factors that might cause or contribute to such
different results include, but are not limited to, those discussed below under the heading “Outlook and Risk
Factors,” and in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and other reports filed by us with the Securities &
Exchange Commission. Consequently, investors are cautioned to read and consider all forward-looking state-
ments in conjunction with such risk factors and uncertainties. Further, all forward-looking statements are subject
to the provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

QOverview

For the year ending October 31, 2003, we earned net income of $1.6 million or $.16 per diluted share on 31
revenues of $52.7 million. These results reflect an increase in earnings of 77% on relatively flat revenues
compared to fiscal 2002. This improvement in earnings reflects increases in the gross margins across all of our
revenue streams despite enduring another year of depressed buying activity in the communications equipment
sector. As a result of the economic conditions, we continued to execute on short-term tactics designed to carefully
manage our costs, maximize operating cash flows, and preserve our technical capabilides for the future. As a
result of successfully executing these tactics and improving our gross margins, we were able to dramatically
improve our profits and retire $8.9 million of our debt..

In addition, we initiated limited growth initiatives, the most significant of which was to become a Nortel
Networks (“Nortel Networks”) Premium Partner with a nation-wide market reach. By adding the Nortel
Networks product line, we have effectively doubled our market potential because Nortel Network’s market share
is very similar to that of Avaya Communications’ (“Avaya”) market share. Both Nortel Networks and Avaya have
focused their recent research and development investments on converged communications systems that allow
voice communications to travel over what were previously data-dedicated networks, and both companies now
have deep and rich converged product selections. Approximately 60% of the U.S. market has an installed base of
either Nortel Networks or Avaya equipment and has been loyal to their chosen manufacturer for many years. In
addition, we believe most of these customers will likely choose to preserve their existing investment as they
migrate to the new converged technology. Therefore, in almost all cases, we will offer new Nortel Networks
products to existing Nortel Networks customers and offer new Avaya products to existing Avaya customers. In
summary, our decision to add the Nortel Networks product line to our product and service offerings was made to
extend our market reach. We will not de-emphasize our efforts to sell Avaya equipment and service products in
any way.

We continue to be very optimistic about our long-term prospects. During fiscal 2003, we have improved our
efficiencies throughout our operations thereby improving our gross margins; we have slashed and restructured
our debt to improve our financial condition and reduce cash flow dedicated to debt reduction; and we have pre-
served and enhanced our technical competence and continue to maintain our position as a premier integrator of
voice and data technologies with nation-wide reach. We believe that we are well-positioned for rapid growth as
acceptance of these new products grows and as capital spending returns to historical levels.
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The discussion that follows provides more details regarding the factors and trends which affect our financial
results, liquidity, and capital resources in fiscal 2003 when compared to the previous year.

Results of Operations

Year ending October 31, 2003 compared to October 31, 2002. Net revenues for fiscal 2003 were $52.7 mil-
lion compared to $53.7 million in fiscal 2002, a 2% decline. Net income for fiscal 2003 was $1.6 million com-
pared to $.9 million in fiscal 2002, a 77% increase. Discussed below are the major revenue, gross margin, and
operating expense items that affected our financial results during fiscal 2003.

Systems Sales. Sales of systems and equipment were $27.5 million in fiscal 2003 compared to $27.9 million in
fiscal 2002, a 1% decrease. These results reflect the static market conditions experienced during fiscal 2003 as
customers continued to defer most of their buying decisions. In the early portion of fiscal 2003, we experienced a
spike in new orders, indicating that the market for our products was prepared to return to historical levels of
growth. However, order rates quickly returned to fiscal 2002 levels as a high degree of pessimism returned to the
overall economy reflecting concerns about the Iraq war and future business profits. As we enter fiscal 2004, we
have received three large orders for new equipment, each totaling more than $1 million. However, except for
these orders, we have not seen a change in order rates for new equipment from the levels experienced in fiscal
2003, As discussed above, we have added the Nortel Networks product line to our product and service offering to
expand our market penetration. We expect to start receiving orders of Nortel Networks equipment during the
first quarter, with order rates reaching meaningful levels mid-year.

Nearly all of the new systems sold during fiscal 2003 were combination traditional and converged (“IP-
enabled”) systems or were full converged IP systems, reflecting the fact that the market is accepting the new
technology that has been developed and is beginning to see economic benefits associated with it. We fully expect
this trend to continue. However, we cannot predict at this time when macroeconomic factors will improve suffi-
ciently for capital spending in our market to return to historical growth rates.

Installation and Service Revenues. Revenues earned from installation and service related activities were $23.3
million, an 8% decrease from fiscal 2002. This decrease was due primarily to lower discretionary spending by
customers on “time and materials” work. The decrease also reflects a slow-down in our Microsoft consulting
business. Most of our customers have focused very heavily on cost controls during the current economic down-
turn and, as a result, consistently defer all service work that is not essential. Also, because most companies are not
increasing their employee base, they are not spending money on expansions of their systems, movement of
employees, etc., all of which generate service revenues for us.

Our service revenues include three other sources in addition to “time and materials” revenues: installation
revenues, contract revenues and professional services revenues. Installation revenues were flat in fiscal 2003 com-
pared to the prior year. This result was expected given the relatively stable level of systems sales, which is the
primary driver of installation revenues. Contract revenues in fiscal 2003 were also consistent with fiscal 2002 lev-
els. This revenue stream continues to be derived primarily from our lodging business, which did not expand dur-
ing fiscal 2003. To date, our efforts to build a similar base of recurring revenues from our commercial customers
has been hampered because Avaya vigorously restricts our ability to compete with them for service contracts, but
instead pays us a commission for selling their contracts. Nortel Networks, on the other hand, does not maintain a
service department and expects dealers like us to maintain customer systems. We believe that over time we will be
able to build a base of recurring revenues from Nortel Networks customers similar to the base of revenues that
we have enjoyed from our lodging business. Finally, we derive service revenues from our PSO which provides
sales support, complex implementation services, and operating systems consulting for our customers. The con-
sulting portion of our business declined slightly during fiscal 2003 as customers continued to limit their discre-
tionary spending in this area.



Gross Margins. Gross margins were 27.2% in fiscal 2003 compared to 21.6% in fiscal 2002. This increase
reflected increases in the gross margins of all our revenue sources.

Gross margins on systems sales were 28.8% in fiscal 2003 compared to 23.2% in fiscal 2002. A portion of
this increase relates to an adjustment we made during fiscal 2002 to the reserve for inventory obsolescence.
During the third quarter of fiscal 2002, we increased the inventory reserve and systems cost of goods sold by
$775,000. Without this adjustment, our gross margins on systems sales in fiscal 2002 would have been 26.0%.
The remainder of the improvement in systems sales reflects improvements in sales quoting processes installed
during the year. By establishing procedures to focus more closely on gross margins prior to finalizing the order
and by more aggressively seeking price support from the manufacturer, we were able to significantly improve our
margins on systems sales. While we believe that these improvements can be sustained, the gross margins earned
on our systems sales remains highly volatile. The factors affecting our gross margins on systems sales include the
following: 1) we sell a wide variety of products, some of which generate gross margins in excess of 50% and
some of which earn gross margins of less than 20%; 2) we sell to several different customer sets, some of which
have pre-negotiated contracts with Avaya which result in lower margins for us; and 3) as a distributor, we receive
various forms of financial incentives from our suppliers and from Avaya which can vary based on special promo-
tions, product-types purchased, the end-user customer, seasonality, etc. All of these factors contribute to the
unpredictability of our systems gross margins.

The gross margins earned on installation and service revenues was 29.1% in fiscal 2003 compared to 25.9%
in fiscal 2002. This increase was primarily due to improvements surrounding our commercial installation cost
structure and processes. Despite the fact that installation revenues declined in association with a drop in systems
sales, and that a portion of the costs associated with installation activities is fixed payroll-related expenses, we
were still able to improve the gross margins on installations during the year by further consolidation and integra-
tion of installation related activities. Also, the margins earned by our National Service Center improved slightly
in fiscal 2003, reflecting additional cost controls deployed during the year.

A final component to our gross margins is the margins earned on other revenues and our corporate cost of
goods sold expenses. Other revenues represent sales and cost of goods sold on equipment outside our normal
provisioning processes and commissions earned on the sale of manufacturer service contracts. Corporate cost of
goods sold represents the cost of our material logistics and purchasing functions. Corporate cost of goods sold
declined 8% in fiscal 2003 compared to fiscal 2002.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses were $11.2 million or 21.3% of revenues in fiscal 2003 compared to
$10.5 million or 19.4% of revenues in fiscal 2002. In fiscal 2002, we recorded an adjustment to decrease the
reserve for bad debts by $700,000 which resulted in a reduction in bad debt expense. Without this adjustment,
fiscal 2002 operating expenses would have been 20.8% of revenues. The remainder of the increase in operating
expenses as a percentage of revenues was related to the loss of certain marketing reimbursement programs from
Avaya. Avaya replaced these programs with a different incentive system that we participated in, but the contribu-
tions received under the new incentive system only partially offset the loss of cost reimbursements under the pre-
vious program.

Since April of 2001, we have managed our operating expenses primarily by closely monitoring and managing
our headcount and by implementing tight controls over discretionary expenditures. In fiscal 2003, we continued
this course except for a few strategic investments in sales resources related to our mid-market initiative. Also, in
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, we began making a few investments in technical and sales resources related to
our Nortel Networks initiative. In both cases, these investments were partially funded by the manufacturers
under specified cost reimbursement programs. We expect to continue this cautious course of action for the fore-
seeable future.

Interest and Other Income. Interest expense consists of interest paid or accrued on our credit facility. Interest
expense declined in fiscal 2003 by $413,000, reflecting lower average debt levels and lower interest rates. Also,
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during fiscal 2003, we capitalized interest costs of approximately $337,000 related to our Oracle implementation
project compared to approximately $277,000 in fiscal 2002. During fiscal 2003, we reduced our overall bank debt
by $8.9 million through cash on hand and funds generated from operations.

Net other expense in fiscal 2003 was approximately $71,000 compared to net other income of approximately
$1.2 million last year. Fiscal 2002’ results include income from the partial reversal of an acquisition-related
accrual set up during fiscal 2000 and interest income earned from sales-type leases. The amount of the non-
recurring accrual reversal recorded to other income was $826,000. We set up this accrual as part of the purchase
of UST in November, 1999 to reflect the fact that we were inheriting an aggressive tax position taken by UST.
At the time of the acquisition, we chose to accrue for the potential losses to be incurred if the tax position was
overturned. After consultation with our financial and tax advisors and having monitored this matter since the
time of the acquisition, we believed it was appropriate to reduce the accrual and did so last year. There was no
such entry made in fiscal 2003.

Tax Expense. We have recorded a combined federal and state tax provision of 39% in all years presented. This
rate reflects the effective federal tax rate plus the estimated composite state income tax rate.

Operating Margins. Our net income as a percent of revenues in fiscal 2003 was 3.0% compared to 1.6% last
year. This increase reflects higher gross margins earned in fiscal 2003 while holding operating expenses relatively
constant. We believe that our current business model would support a target operating margin of 8%. However,
we will have to realize sustained growth in our revenues, primarily through increased sales of systems to commer-
cial customers, and hold our gross margins to reach this target.

Year ending October 31, 2002 compared to October 31, 2001. Net revenues for fiscal 2002 were $53.7 mil-
lion compared to $86.1 million in fiscal 2001, a 37% decline. Net income for fiscal 2002 was $.878 million com-
pared to $3.481 million in fiscal 2001, a 75% decline. Discussed below are the major revenue, gross margin, and
operating expense items that affected our financial results during fiscal 2002.

Systems Sales. Sales of systems and equipment were $27.9 million in fiscal 2002, a 46% decrease from fiscal
2001. This decrease consisted of a decrease in systems sales to commercial customers of $20.2 million or 48%
and a decrease in systems sales to lodging customers of $4 million or 40%. These decreases reflect the market
conditions present during fiscal 2002 in which customers severely curtailed capital spending on telecommunica-
tions related equipment. These decisions by customers reflected an unusually high degree of pessimism regarding
the overall economy in fiscal 2002, as customers perceived the need to use their available capital cautiously until a
clear economic recovery is underway.

Installation and Service Revenues. Revenues earned from installation and service related activities (i.e., installa-
tion, contracts, MACs (moves, adds and changes), and consulting) were $25.4 million in fiscal 2002, 2 23%
decrease from fiscal 2001. Installation revenues, which are derived primarily from sales of new systems, decreased
55% in fiscal 2002 compared to the prior year. Contract revenues, which have been a relatively stable source of
profitability and cash flows, increased 1% in fiscal 2002 compared to fiscal 2001. These consistent revenues were
the key to our remaining profitable during the market downturn. MAC revenues decreased 40% in fiscal 2002 as
customers deferred minor upgrades, expansions, and preventative maintenance projects during the down business
cycle. Consulting revenues increased 65% in fiscal 2002 reflecting our increased emphasis on providing profes-
sional services to customers as well as the increase in complex implementations completed.

Gross Margins. Gross margins were 21.6% in fiscal 2002 compared to 27.2% in fiscal 2001. This decrease
consisted of a decrease in gross margins earned on systems sales to 23.2% in fiscal 2002 compared to 30.3% in
fiscal 2001 and a decrease in gross margins earned on services revenues to 25.9% in fiscal 2002 compared to
28.7% in fiscal 2001.

One of the primary factors affecting our gross margins on systems sales during fiscal 2002 was an adjustment
we made to the reserve for inventory obsolescence. During the third quarter, we increased the reserve for obso-
lete inventory by $775,000. This increase was charged to systems cost of goods sold in our financial statements.



Without this non-recurring adjustment, our gross margins on systems sales would have been 26%. The remain-
der of the decline in gross margins is related to a variety of factors including product mix, customer mix, and
increasing competitive pressures.

The decline in gross margins earned on services revenues is directly related to the decline in sales of systems,
which as discussed above, is the primary driver of the installation and professional services components of our
services revenues. A significant portion of our services costs of sales are relatively fixed headcount-related expens-
es such as wages, benefits, payroll taxes, etc. Therefore, as our installation revenues declined, our margins on this
component of our services revenues suffered in direct proportion.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses were $10.5 million or 19.4% of revenues in fiscal 2002 compared to
$16.1 million or 18.7% of revenues in fiscal 2001. The decrease in operating expenses reflected: 1) cost reduc-
tions totaling approximately $2.3 million produced primarily by reduced headcount, salary reductions for officers
and directors, and reduced marketing expenditures to adjust to our declining revenue base, 2) reduced commis-
sion expense of $1.2 million reflecting the decrease in gross profits, 3) a non-recurring adjustment to decrease the
reserve for bad debts of $700,000, and 4) reduced amortization expense of $1.4 million due to our adoption as of
November 1, 2001 of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142 (“SFAS 142”) regarding the account-
ing for intangible assets and goodwill.

Interest and Other Income. Interest expense, which consists of interest paid or accrued on our credit facility,
declined in fiscal 2002 by $1.2 million, reflecting lower average debt levels. Also during fiscal 2002, we capitalized
interest costs of $277,000 related to our Oracle implementation project compared to $131,000 in fiscal 2001.
During fiscal 2002, we reduced our overall bank debt by $9.6 million through funds generated from operations.
Net other income earned in fiscal 2002 represented the partial reversal of an acquisition related accrual set up
during fiscal 2000 as part of the purchase of U.S. Technologies, Inc. in November, 1999 to reflect the fact that we
were inheriting an aggressive tax position taken by UST, and interest income earned from sales-type leases. The
amount of the non-recurring accrual reversal recorded to other income was $826,000.

Tax Expense. We recorded a combined federal and state tax provision of 39% in all years presented. This rate
reflects the effective federal tax rate plus the estimated composite state income tax rate.

Operating Margins. Our net income as a percent of revenues in fiscal 2002 was 1.6% compared to 4% in fiscal
2001. This decline primarily reflected lower gross margins earned in fiscal 2002 as discussed above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

_During fiscal 2003, we made significant strides in improving our financial condition and balance sheet struc-
ture. Specifically, we earned $8.0 million from operations, which we combined with existing cash balances to
reduce our bank debt by $8.9 million, and we restructured our credit facility more appropriately to our balance
sheet.

We generated these strong cash flows from operations from the following sources: earnings and non-cash
charges of $2.9 million, reduction in accounts receivable of $3.9 million, reductions in inventories of $1.9 million,
and decreases in prepaid taxes of $1.2 million. These sources of cash flows were partially offset by $2.2 million in
reductions in accounts payable, yielding total cash flows from operations of $8.2 million. We used cash flows plus
beginning cash balances of $2.0 million to reduce our bank debt by $8.9 million and to make $1.0 million capital
investments, primarily related to the implementation of our Oracle enterprise resource system. This system is
expected to be fully implemented during fiscal 2004.

We completed fiscal 2003 with only $5.2 million in term and mortgage debt outstanding, a reduction of
nearly $20 million in three years despite the severe economic conditions that we have battled during this time.
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Also at the end of the year, we completed a restructuring of our credit facility with a new bank. The structure of
the new credit facility is similar to the previous agreement, but on more favorable terms. The facility contains
three pieces: 1) a Term Loan of $3.0 million amortizing over 36 months due September 30, 2006, 2) a Mortgage
Loan of $2.2 million amortizing over 13 years due September 30, 2006, and 3) a $7.5 million working capital
revolver supported by accounts receivable and inventories, which matures on September 29, 2004. The Company
had approximately $5.2 million available under the revolving line of credit at October 31, 2003.

By re-amortizing the Term Loan over a new 36-month period, we have reduced our per-quarter cash flow
previously committed to debt reduction by over $500,000 and have shifted approximately $2.1 million out of cur-
rent maturities to long-term debt, significantly improving our working capital position and current ratio. In addi-
tion, our financial covenants have been reset to reflect our current financial position and earnings levels. The
financial covenants are common in such agreements including tangible net worth requirements, limitations on
the amount of funded debt to Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and Amortization “(EBITDA”), lim-
itations on capital spending, and debt service coverage requirements. With these changes in place, we believe that
our financial condition is greatly improved and we are well-positoned to be able to support rapid increases in the
demand for working capital should our business expand.

In addition to the available capacity under our working capital line of credit, we believe we have access to a
variety of capital sources such as additional bank debt, private placements of subordinated debt, and public or pri-

vate sales of additional equity. However, there are currently no plans to issue such securities.

The table below presents our contractual obligations at October 31, 2003 as well as payment obligations over
the next five years:

Payments due by period

Less than 2-3 4-5 More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years
Long-term debt $5,239,383 $ 1,209,645 $4,029,738 § — $ —
Operating leases 416,387 271,728 126,302 18,357 —
Total $5,655,770 $1,481,373 $4,156,040 $18,357 8 —

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation —
Transition and Disclosure ~ an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123” (“SFAS 148”). This statement provides
alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair-value-based method of accounting for stock-
based employee compensation. It also amends the disclosure requirements of Statement 123 to require prominent
disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. Presently, we account for stock-
based employee compensation under an alternative to the fair-value method allowed by SFAS 123. Under this
alternative method, we are only required to disclose the impact of issued stock options as if the expense had been
recorded in the financial statements.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 149”). This statement amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for
derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts (collectively referred
to as derivatives) and for hedging activities under SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities”. In particular, this statement (1) clarifies under what circumstances a contract with an initial
net investment meets the characteristic of a derivative, (2) clarifies when a derivative contains a financing compo-
nent, (3) amends the definition of an underlying instrument to conform it to language used in FASB
Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect



Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” and (4) amends certain other existing pronouncements. Those changes
will result in more consistent reporting of contracts as either derivatives or hybrid instruments. The adoption of
SFAS 149 is not expected to have a material impact on our operating results, financial position, or cash flows.

SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and
Equity” (“SFAS 150”) was issued in May 2003. This Statement establishes standards for how certain financial
instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity are classified and measured. It requires that many
financial instruments previously classified as equity now be classified as a liability (or an asset in some circum-
stances). These financial instruments are as follows: A financial instrument issued in the form of shares that is
mandatorily redeemable—that embodies an unconditional obligation requiring the issuer to redeem it by trans-
ferring its assets at a specified or determinable date (or dates) or upon an event that is certain to occur; a financial
instrument, other than an outstanding share, that, at inception, embodies an obligation to repurchase the issuer’s
equity shares, or is indexed to such an obligation, and that requires or may require the issuer to settle the obliga-
tion by transferring assets; a financial instrument that embodies an unconditional obligation, or a financial instru-
ment other than an outstanding share that embodies a conditional obligation, that the issuer must or may settle
by issuing a variable number of its equity shares, if, at inception, the monetary value of the obligation is based
solely or predominantly on any of the following: a) a fixed monetary amount known at inception, for example, a
payable settleable with a variable number of equity shares; b) variations in something other than the fair value of
equity shares, for example, a financial instrument indexed to the S&P 500 and settleable with a variable number
of equity shares; c) variations inversely related to changes in the fair value of equity shares, for example, a written
put option that could be net share settled. SFAS 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modi-
fied after May 31, 2003, and otherwise effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June
15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 150 is not expected to have a material effect on our operating results, financial
position, or cash flows.

We elected to early adopt SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” on November 1, 2001. Under
SFAS 142, goodwill recorded as a part of a business combination is no longer amortized, but instead will be sub-
ject to at least an annual assessment for impairment by applying a fair-value-based test. As required by the new
standard, we conducted an initial fair-value-based goodwill impairment test to determine if the carrying value of
the goodwill on their balance sheet is impaired. To assist us in our initial fair-value assessment, we engaged an
independent valuation consultant. The results of our assessment indicated that no impairment existed in the value
of recorded goodwill on our books as of November 1, 2001. Additional impairment tests have been conducted by
us shortly after the close of our fiscal year on both October 31, 2003 and 2002. The results of each of these
appraisals indicated that the fair value of our reportng units in which goodwill is associated was higher than their
respective carrying values on the balance sheet. Therefore no impairment loss was recognized. An annual impair-
ment test will be conducted in future periods shortly after the close of our fiscal year. The adoption of SFAS 142
resulted in a reduction to our amortization expense of approximately $1.6 million per year.

The goodwill for tax purposes associated with the acquisition of UST exceeded the goodwill recorded on the
financial statements by $1,462,000. We are reducing the goodwill recorded on the financial statements for the tax
effect and the “tax-on-tax” effect of the $1,462,000 basis difference over a 15-year period. Accrued income taxes
and deferred tax liabilities are being reduced as well. We reduced the carrying value of goodwill by $55,576 and
$162,094 for the impact of the basis difference for the years ended October 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

37




38

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Our financial statements are prepared based on the application of generally accepted accounting principles in
the U.S. These accounting principles require us to exercise significant judgment about future events that affect
the amounts reported throughout our financial statements. Actual events could unfold quite differently than our
previous judgments had predicted. Therefore the estimates and assumptions inherent in the financial statements
included in this report could be materially different once those actual events are known. We believe the following
policies may involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity in their application and represent critical
accounting policies used in the preparation of our financial statements. If different assumptions or estimates were
used, our financial statements could be materially different from those included in this report.

Revenue Recognition. We recognize revenues from sales of equipment based on shipment, which is generally
easily determined. Revenues from installation and service activities are recognized based upon completion of the
activity and customer acceptance, which sometimes requires judgment on our part. Revenues from maintenance
contracts are recognized ratably over the term of the underlying contract.

Collectibility of Accounts Receivable. We must make judgments about the collectibility of our accounts receivable
to be able to present them at their net realizable value on the balance sheet. To do this, we carefully analyze the
aging of our customer accounts, try to understand why accounts have not been paid, and review historical bad
debt problems. From this analysis, we record an estimated allowance for receivables which we believe will ulti-
mately become uncollectible. Late in fiscal 2002, we reduced our estimated allowance for bad debts by $700,000
because of better than expected collection results. There was no such adjustment made during fiscal 2003. We
actively manage our accounts receivable to minimize our credit risks and believe that our current allowance for
doubtful accounts is fairly stated.

Realizability of Inventory Values. We make judgments about the ultimate realizability of our inventory in order
to record our inventory at its lower of cost or market. These judgments involve reviewing current demand for
our products in comparison to present inventory levels and reviewing inventory costs compared to current mar-
ket values. We maintain a significant inventory of used and refurbished parts for which these assessments require
a high degree of judgment. In the second half of fiscal 2002, we recorded increases to our provision for excess
and obsolete inventories of approximately $962,000 reflecting our judgment that our provision was understated at
that time. This amount was recorded as an increase to systems cost of goods sold. While there were additons to
the reserve and write-offs of worthless items in fiscal 2003, there was not a similarly large adjustment made as in
fiscal 2002.

Goodwill and Other Long-lived Assets. We have a significant amount of goodwill on our balance sheet resulting
from the acquisitions made in fiscal 2000 and 2001. As required by generally accepted accounting principles, we
conduct an annual goodwill impairment review immediately after the completion of the fiscal year to determine
the fair value of our reporting units. In fiscal years 2002 and 2001, we engaged an independent valuation consult-
ant to assist us in this review. The results of management’s assessment indicated that no impairment existed in the
value of recorded goodwill on our books as of November 1, 2001 or October 31, 2002. To make this assessment
in fiscal 2003, we prepared a long-term forecast of the operating results and cash flows associated with the major
reporting units of our business. We prepared this forecast in order to determine the net discounted cash flows
associated with each of these units. We then compared the value of the discounted cash flows, less bank debt, to
the book value of each of those units. Based on our work in this area, we determined that the fair value, based on
the discounted cash flows, was greater than our carrying value and therefore no impairment has occurred. There
is a great deal of judgment involved in making this assessment including the growth rates of our various business
lines, gross margins, operating margins, discount rates, and the capital expenditures needed to support the pro-
jected growth in revenues.

We have recorded property, equipment, and capitalized software costs at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation or amortization. The determination of useful economic lives and whether or not these assets are
impaired involves significant judgment.



Accruals for Contractual Obligations and Contingent Liabifities. On products manufactured or installed by us, we
have varying degrees of warranty obligations. We use historical trends and make other judgments to estimate our
liability for such obligations. We also must record estimated liabilities for many forms of federal, state, and local
taxes. Our ultimate liability for these taxes depends upon a number of factors including the interpretation of
statutes and the mix of our taxable income between higher and lower taxing jurisdictions. In addition, from time-
to-time we are a party to threatened litigation or actual litigation in the normal course of business. In such cases,
we evaluate our potental liability, if any, and determine if an estimate of that liability should be recorded in our
financial statements. Estimating both the probability of our liability and the potential amount of the liability are
highly subjective exercises and are evaluated frequently as the underlying circumstances change.

Outlook and Risk Factors

Our business and our prospects are subject to many risks. The following items are representative of the risks,
uncertainties and assumptions that could affect our business, our future performance and the outcome of the for-
ward-looking statements we make.

Our business is adversely affected by unfavorable economic conditions in the United States and, in particular,
market conditions for telecommunications and networking equipment and services.

Our business is directly affected by capital spending on technology equipment in the U.S. Since April 2001,
the U.S. economy has been weak and most companies have significantly curtailed or even frozen their capital
spending in general, and communications equipment in particular. It is likely that our operating profits will not
improve dramatically until this macroeconomic trend also improves.

In the short-term, our business remains beavily dependent upon Avaya, our primary supplier of communica-
tions equipment for vesale. Also, our long-term strategy includes continued commitment to the Avaya product
line.

Although we have recently added Nortel Networks equipment to our product line, we do not expect sales of
Nortel Networks products and services to be a material portion of our revenues untl late fiscal 2004.
Consequently, in the near term, our financial results will continue to be heavily dependent upon the quality and
reputation of Avaya’s products. As such, our success in this market will continue to depend heavily upon Avaya’s
ability to develop its products on a timely basis and compete effectively with other manufacturers’ products in
this market. From a longer-term perspective, we expect the Avaya product line to always be a material part of our
business and we have no plans to diminish our Avaya related efforts in any way. Therefore, we expect to always be
dependent to some degree on Avaya as a significant supplier of the equipment that we resell.

Avaya frequently changes the incentive programs offeved to their business partners. Such changes had a detri-
mental effect on our fiscal 2003 results and could do so again in the future.

Avaya, like many major manufacturers, provides various financial incentive programs to support the advertis-
ing and sale of its products. We receive substantial rebates through these common incentive programs to offset
both costs of goods sold and selling expenses. We also receive commissions from Avaya to sell their maintenance
contracts. These amounts are material to our operating results. Avaya has changed several of these programs in
fiscal 2003. As a result of these changes, we received less incentive compensation in fiscal 2003 than we did in fis-
cal 2002. Avaya may change the incentive programs again in fiscal 2004 or we may not qualify for incentives at
the same level in fiscal 2004 as we did in fiscal 2003. It is possible that such changes could have a material,
adverse impact on our operating results.
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If Avaya chose to reduce or eliminate its “Business Partner” program, our revenues would likely be
significantly lower.

Revenues earned from customers in which we “partner” with Avaya through its “Business Parmer” program
(see “Marketing” under ITEM 1. BUSINESS, above) are a significant portion of our overall revenues. Therefore,
our near-term financial results are dependent upon Avaya continuing this program, and upon our ability to main-
tain our status with Avaya as one of a few favored Business Partners.

We are investing significant resources to add Nortel Networks products and services to our product line and
our efforts may not produce satisfactory results. Our current Nortel Networks expertise is isolated in a few
individuals.

To extend our market reach and diversify our reliance on Avaya, we have added the Nortel Networks product
line to our business. We are investing significant resources in the hiring and training of personnel to sell, design,
install and maintain Nortel Networks products. While we believe that revenues derived from the sale of Nortel
Networks systems and services will be a material part of our operating results in the future, it may take longer
than we expect or this effort may not be successtul at all. Furthermore, our current expertise in Nortel Networks
products is concentrated in a few individuals, the loss of any of which could result in a significant setback in our
ability to grow our Nortel Networks business.

The introduction of new products could vesult in reduced revenues, reduced gross margins, reduced customer
satisfaction, and longer collection periods.

We are selling a variety of new, highly complex products that incorporate leading-edge technology, including
both hardware and software. The early versions of these products, which we are selling currently, can contain
software “bugs” and other defects that can cause the products to not function as intended. We will likely be
dependent upon Avaya to fix these problems as they occur. An inability of Avaya to correct these problems quick-
ly could result in damage to our reputation, reduced revenues, reduced customer satisfaction, and delays in pay-
ments from customers for products purchased.

We are connecting our products to our customers’ computer networks and problems with the implementation of
these products could cause disruption to our customers’ entive operations.

Unlike traditional, stand-alone voice systems, our new products typically are connected to our customers’
existing local and wide area networks. While we believe the risk of our products disrupting other traffic or opera-
dons on these networks is low, these products are new and unforeseen problems may occur, which could cause
significant disruption to our customers’ operations. These disruptions, in turn, could result in reduced customer
satisfaction, delays in payments from customers for products purchased, damage to our reputation, and even
reduced revenues.

We expect our gross margins to vary over time,

Our gross margins are impacted by a variety of factors, including changes in customer and product mix,
increased price competition, changes in vendor incentive programs, and changes in shipment volume. We expect
these factors to cause our gross margins to be inconsistent as we make quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year com-
parisons.

If our dealer agreements with the original equipment manufacturers are terminated prematurely or
unexpectedly, our business could be adversely affected.

We sell communications systems under dealer agreements with Avaya, Inc., Hitachi Telecom, (USA), Inc.,
and Nortel Networks. We are a major dealer for Avaya and Hitachi and consider our relationship with both to be
good. Nevertheless, if our strategic relationship with these manufacturers were to be terminated prematurely or




unexpectedly, our operating results would be adversely impacted. Furthermore, these agreements require that we
meet certain volume commitments to earn the pricing structure provided in the dealer agreements. Failure to
meet these requirements could cause material, adverse consequences to our gross margins and overall operating
results.

We are dependent upon a few suppliers.

Our growth and ability to meet customer demand also depends in part on our capability to obtain timely
deliveries of parts from suppliers. Both Avaya and Nortel Networks utilize a two-ter distribution model in which
a few third party companies (super distributors) distribute their products to their respective dealer communities.
In the case of one such distributor, they distribute both Avaya and Nortel Networks products. The limited
amount of distribution available for each of these product lines increases our risks of interrupdons in the supply
of products in the future.

The success of our business depends significantly upon our ability to retain and recruit bighly skilled personnel.

Our ability to attract, train, motivate and retain highly skilled and qualified technical and sales personnel is
critical to our success. Competition for such employees in the rapidly changing telecommunications industry is
typically intense, although the current economic conditions have temporarily eased some of this pressure. As we
have transformed our company into an integrated communications solutions provider, we have invested heavily in
the hiring and training of personnel to sell and service our new products and service offerings. If we are unable to
retain our skilled employees or to hire additional qualified personnel as needed, it could adversely impact our
ability to implement our strategies efficiently and effectively.

We are faced with intense competition and rapidly changing technologies in the industry and market in which
we operate.

The market for our products and services is highly competitive and subject to rapidly changing technologies.
As the industry itself evolves and new technologies and products are introduced into the marketplace, new partic-
ipants enter the market and existing competitors seek to strengthen their positions and expand their
product/service offerings. There has been a trend toward industry consolidation, which can lead to the creation
of stronger competitors who may be better able to compete as a sole-source vendor for customers. While we
believe that through the expansion and transformation of the last few years, we are well-positioned to compete
effectively in the marketplace, our failure to maintain or enhance this position could adversely affect our business
and results of operations.

We might bave to record a significant goodwill impairment loss in the event our business were to suffer a
severe decline.

Under SFAS 142, we are required to evaluate the fair value of each of our reporting units annually and deter-
mine if the fair value is less than the carrying value of those reporting units, and if so, an impairment loss is
recorded in our statement of operations. The determination of fair value is a highly subjective exercise and can
produce very different results based on the assumptions used and methodologies employed. It is likely that if our
financial results were to decline substantially and if macroeconomic conditons eroded, we would have to record a
non-cash impairment loss in our statement of operations. The amount of such impairment is impossible to pre-
dict, but would likely be very material to our operating results and could represent a significant portion of our
shareholders’ equity. :

The successful completion of the upgrade to our technology infrastructure and information systems is critical to
our ability to effectively and efficiently operate our business in the future. Also, implementation of the system

will significantly increase our depreciation expense.

Our success in navigating the current market will depend heavily upon our ability to assemble the necessary
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information to make informed decisions and implement those decisions quickly and effectively. For the past 30
months, we have been working on a major upgrade to our technology infrastructure and information systems.
This upgrade will result in a consolidation from four critical legacy systems to one. Due to constraints that we
have imposed on capital spending, we have purposely slowed down the development of this system. Furthermore,
at our current revenue and activity levels, conversion to this new system is not critical to our near-term success.
However, we believe it is prudent to proceed with the conversion while our revenues are at these lower levels in
anticipation of future growth. While we are taking great care to properly plan this implementation and to test the
solution fully prior to the conversion, there can be no guarantees given that the conversion will not disrupt our
operations. In addition, at the time we place the new information system into service, we will begin depreciating
our investment in the system. This depreciation will result in a pre-tax, non-cash charge to our earnings of
approximately $240,000 per quarter based on the $6.7 million currently invested in this project.

Our targeted operating margins of 8% may not be achievable.

We believe that our current business model would support a target operating margin of 8%. This target
assumes that we can: 1) generate significantly higher revenues; 2) maintain our gross margins; and 3) operate our
material logistics and general and administrative functions at about the same levels as we currently do. These
assumptions are not tested through past experience operating in the commercial sector of our market and may
not be achievable.

Our stock price may continue to be volatile.

Historically, our stock is not widely followed by investment analysts and is subject to price and volume trad-
ing volatlity. This volatility is sometimes tied to overall market conditions and may or may not reflect our finan-
cial performance. It is likely that this volatility will continue.

Our business is subject to the risks of tornadoes and other natural catastrophic events and to interruptions
caused by manmade problems such as computer viruses or terrorism.

Our corporate headquarters and NSC is located in northeastern Oklahoma, a region known to be part of
“tornado alley”. A significant natural disaster, such as a tornado, could have a material adverse impact on our
business, operating results, and financial condition. In addition, despite our implementation of network security
measures, our servers are vulnerable to computer viruses, break-ins, and similar disruptions from unauthorized
tampering with our computer systems. Any such event could also cause a material adverse impact on our business,
operating results, and financial condition. In addition, acts of war or acts of terrorism could have a material
adverse impact on our business, operating results, and financial condition. The continued threat of terrorism and
heightened security and military response to this threat, or any future acts of terrorism, may cause further disrup-
tion to our economy and create further uncertainties. To the extent that such disruptions or uncertainties result
in delays or cancellations of customer orders, or the manufacture or shipment of our products, our business,
operating results, and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

We may be subject to infringement claims and litigation, which could cause us to incur significant expenses or
prevent us from selling certain products and services.

Third parties, including customers, may assert claims or initiate legal action against our manufacturers, sup-
pliers, customers or us, alleging that the products we sell infringe on another’s proprietary rights. Regardless of
the merit of a claim, these types of claims can be time-consuming, result in costly litigation, or require us to enter
into costly license agreements. In some instances, a successful claim could prevent us from selling a particular
product or service. We have not conducted patent searches on the third party products we distribute, to inde-
pendently determine whether they infringe upon another’s proprietary rights; nor would it be practical or cost
effective for us to do so. Rather, we rely on infringement indemnities given to us by the manufacturers of the
equipment we distribute. However, because these indemnities are not absolute and in some instances have limits




of coverage, no assurance can be given that in the event of an infringement claim, our indemnification by the
equipment manufacturer will be adequate to hold us harmless or that we will even be entitled to indemnification
by the equipment manufacturer.

If any infringement or other intellectual property claim is brought against us and is successful, whether it is
based upon a third party manufacturer’s equipment that we distribute, or upon our own proprietary products, our
business, operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

We are subject to a variety of other geneval visks and uncertainties inberent in doing business.

In addition to the specific factors discussed above, we are subject to certain risks that are inherent in
doing business, such as general industry and market conditions and growth rates, general economic and political
conditions, costs of obtaining insurance, unexpected death of key employees, changes in employment laws and
regulations, changes in tax laws and regulations, and other events that can impact revenues and the cost of doing
business.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risks relating to our operations result primarily from changes in interest rates. We did not use deriva-
tive financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes during the 2003 fiscal year.

Interest Rate Risk. We are subject to the risk of fluctuation in interest rates in the normal course of business
due to our utilization of variable debt. Our credit facility bears interest at a floating rate at either the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) (1.12% at October 31, 2003) plus 1.25 to 2.75% or the bank’s prime rate
(4.0% at October 31, 2003) less 0.0% to 1.125%. In an effort to manage the risk associated with variable interest
rates, in November 2001 we entered into interest rate swaps to hedge the variability of cash flows associated with
variable rate interest payments, on amortizing notional amounts of $10.0 million. At October 31, 2003, the
notional amount included under the interest rate swap was $6.2 million. The “pay fixed rates” under the swap
agreements are 3.32%. The “receive floating rates” for the swap agreements are “I-month” LIBOR, resetting
monthly. The interest rate swaps expire in November 2004. Variable rate debt outstanding at October 31, 2003,
net of the swap agreements was $5.2 million. A hypothetical 10% increase in interest rates would not have a
material impact on our financial position or cash flows.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Index to Financial Statements Page
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - For the
Years Ended October 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Based on their evaluation as of a date within 90 days of
the filing date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our principal executive officer and principal financial offi-
cer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-14 (¢) and 15d-14 (¢)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) are effective to ensure that infor-
mation required to be disclosed in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act are recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the tme periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and
forms.

Changes in Internal Controls. There were no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors
that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation. There were no significant
deficiencies or material weaknesses, and therefore, there were no corrective actions taken.

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Information relating to directors required by this Item is incorporated by reference to relevant sections under
the caption “Election of Directors” in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission (the “Commission”) in connection with our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held April 6, 2004.

Information relating to executive officers required by this Item is included in Part I of this Report under the
caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant”.

Other information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the sections captioned “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and “Corporate Governance—Code of Conduct” in our Proxy
Statement to be filed with the Commission in connection with our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held
April 6, 2004.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the sections under the captions “Executive
Compensation and Related Information,” and “Stock Performance Graph,” and to the section under the sub-
heading “Director Compensation” under the caption “Election of Directors,” in our Proxy Statement to be filed
with the Commission in connection with our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held April 6, 2004.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Information relating to Equity Compensation Plans required by this Item is included in Part II of this Report
in the table entitled “Equity Compensation Plan Information” under the section captioned “Market for the
Registrant’s Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters.”

Other information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the section under the capton
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the
Commission in connection with our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held April 6, 2004.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the section under the caption “Related
Transactions” in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commission in connection with our Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held April 6, 2004.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the section under the subheading “Fees
and Independence” under the caption “Independent Public Accountants” in our Proxy Statement to be filed with
the Commission in connection with our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held April 6, 2004.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(@ The following documents are filed as a part of this report:

(1)  Financial Statements - See Index to Financial Statements at Page 22 of this Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedule - None.

(3) Exhibits — The following exhibits are included with this report or incorporated herein by reference:

No.  Description

3(1)l  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 and 3.2 to
XETAs Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed June 17, 1987, File No. 33-7841).

32  Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to XETA’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed
July 28, 1999, File No. 33-62173).

313  Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3()(c) to XETAs Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2000).

3()4 Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.4 to XETA’s Post-Effective Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed
June 28, 2000).

3(if)  Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(ii)(a) to XETA’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2001).

10. 1*  Stock Purchase Option dated February 1, 2000 granted to Larry N. Patterson (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.9 to XETA’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2000).

10.2* XETA Technologies 2000 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to XETA’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2000).



10. 3*

10.4

Stock Purchase Option dated August 11, 2000 granted to Larry N. Patterson (incorporated by refer-
ence to Exhibit 10.14 to XETA’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31,
2000).

HCX 5000/HCX 5000® Authorized Distributor Agreement for 2003 dated January 1, 2003 between
Hitachi Telecom (USA), Inc. and XETA Corporation.

PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTED PURSUANT TO A REQUEST FOR
CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT. SUCH PORTIONS HAVE BEEN FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE
COMMISSION WITH THE APPLICATION FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT.

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

21

23

31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

Norte] Networks Premium Partner U. S. Agreement effective June 25, 2003 between Nortel Networks,
Inc. and XETA Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to XETAs Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 31, 2003).

Avaya Inc. Reseller Master Terms and Conditions effective as of August 6, 2003 between Avaya Inc. and
XETA Technologies, Inc., including Reseller Product Group Attachment for Enterprise Communication
and Internetworking Solutions Product, Reseller Product Group Attachment: Octel® Products, and
Addendum for GSA Schedule Contract Sales to the Federal Government.

Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement dated as of October 1, 2003 between XETA Technologies,
Inc. and Bank of Oklahoma, N.A. (“BOK”)

Mortgage, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Financing Statement dated October
1, 2003 granted to BOK.

Promissory Note ($2,238,333.48 payable to BOK) dated October 1, 2003.

Promissory Note (§7,500,000 payable to BOK) dated October 1, 2003.

Promissory Note ($3,374,734.33 payable to BOK) dated October 1, 2003.

Security Agreement dated October 1, 2003 granted to BOK.

Subsidiaries of XETA Technologies, Inc.

Consent of Grant Thornton LLP.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

(b) We filed the following Reports on Form 8-K during the last quarter of the fiscal year covered by this report:

1.

2.

August 20, 2003—Item 12—Earnings Press Release

October 9, 2003—Item 5—Bank of Oklahoma Credit Agreement
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

XETA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

January 13, 2004 By:_/s/ Jack R. Ingram
Jack R. Ingram, Chief Executive Officer and President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

January 13, 2004 /s/ Jack R. Ingram
Jack R. Ingram, Chief Executive Officer, President, and
Director
January 13, 2004 /s/ Robert B, Wagner

Robert B. Wagner, Vice President of Finance, Chief
Financial Officer, and Director

January 14, 2004 /s/ Donald T. Duke
Donald T. Duke, Director

January 14, 2004 /s/ Ronald L. Siegenthaler
Ronald L. Siegenthaler, Director



Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants

Board of Directors
XETA Technologies, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of XETA Technologies, Inc. (an Oklahoma
corporation) and subsidiaries as of October 31, 2003 and 2002 and the related consolidated statements of opera-
tions, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsi-
bility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits. The consolidated financial statements of XETA Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries for the
year ended October 31, 2001, were audited by other auditors, who have ceased operations. Those auditors
expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements in their report dated December 11, 2001.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall finan-
cial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of XETA Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of October 31, 2003 and 2002, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed above, the consolidated financial statements of XETA “Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries for the
vear ended October 31, 2001, were audited by other auditors, who have ceased operations. As described in
Note 1, these financial statements have been revised to include the transitional disclosures required by Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which was adopted by the
Company as of November 1, 2001. Our audit procedures with respect to the disclosures in Note 1 for 2001
included (i) agreeing the previously reported net income to the previously issued financial statements and the
adjustments to reported net income representing amortization expense (including any related tax effects) recog-
nized in that year related to goodwill, to the Company’s underlying records obtained from management, and (ii)
testing the mathematical accuracy of the reconciliation of adjusted net income to reported net income and the
related earnings-per-share amounts. In our opinion, the disclosures for 2001 in Note I are appropriate. However,
we were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2001 financial statements of the Company
other than with respect to such disclosures and the matter discussed in the following paragraph and, accordingly,
we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2001 financial statements taken as a whole.

As discussed above, the consolidated financial statements of XETA Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries for the
vear ended October 31, 2001, were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations. As described in Note
1, these financial statements have been revised to include the disclosures required by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosures, which
was adopted by the Company Parmership for the year ended October 31, 2003. Our audit procedures with
respect to the disclosures in Note 1 for 2001 included (i) agreeing the previously reported net income to the pre-
viously issued financial statements and the adjustments to reported net income representing compensation
expense recognized in that year under APB No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and the pro forma
compensation expense under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock Based
Compensation, to the Partnership's underlying records obtained from management, and (ii) testing the mathe-
matical accuracy of the reconciliation of pro forma net income to reported net income and the related earnings-
per-share amounts. In our opinion, the disclosures for 2001 in Note 1 are appropriate. However, we were not
engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2001 financial statements of the Company other than
with respect to such disclosures and the matters discussed in the previous paragraph and, accordingly, we do not
express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2001 financial statements taken as a whole.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
Tulsa, Oklahoma
December 5, 2003
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The following audit report of Arthur Andersen LLP, our former independent public accountants, is a copy of
the original report dated December 11, 2001 rendered by Arthur Andersen LLP on our consolidated financial
statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2001. This audit report
has not been reissued by Arthur Andersen LLP since December 11, 2001 nor has Arthur Andersen LLP provided
a consent to the inclusion of its report in this form 10-K. We are including this copy of the Arthur Andersen
LLP audit report pursuant to Rule 2-02(e) of Regulation S-X under the Securities Act of 1933.

Report of Independent Public Accountants

To XETA Technologies, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of XETA Technologies, Inc. (formerly XETA
Corporation, an Oklahoma corporation) and subsidiaries as of October 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related con-
solidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended October 31, 2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence sup-
porting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial state-
ment presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of XETA Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of October 31, 2001 and 2000, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2001,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Tulsa, Oklahoma
December 11, 2001



XETA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Current portion of net investment in sales-type leases and ather receivables
Trade accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Deferred tax asset, net
Prepaid taxes
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Total current assets

Noncurrent Assets:

Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization prior to adoption of SFAS 142

Net investment in sales-type leases, Iess current portion above

Property, plant & equipment, net

Capitalized software production costs, net of accumulated amortization of
$1,233,066 and $1,053,066

Other assets
Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liahilities:

Current portion of long-term debt

Revolving line of credit

Accounts payable

Unearned service revenue

Accrued liabilities

Accrued taxes

QOther liabilities

Tota! current liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Long-term debt, less current portion above
Deferred tax fiability, net
Unearned service revenue
Other liabilities

Contingencies

Shareholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock; $.10 par value; 50,000 shares authorized, 0 issued

Common stock; $.001 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized, 11,021,740 and

10,721,740 issued at October 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively
Paid-in capital
Retained eamings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Less treasury stock, at cost
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated balance sheets.

October 31, 2003

October 31, 2002

$ 291,118 $ 1,966,734
979,255 1,015,096
5,794,949 9,478,706
5,614,902 7,801,781
885,752 592,643

— 1,195,539

322,699 165,657
13,888,675 22,216,156
25,726,886 25,782,462
419,800 519,270
10,466,824 10,457,718
51,955 237,955
112,528 170,424
36,783,993 37,167,829
$ 50,672,668 $59,383,985
$ 1,209,645 $ 3,288,337
719,073 —
3,928,878 6,119,135
1,620,323 2,078,741
1,869,024 1,968,771
58,134 —
279,250 181,501
9,684,327 13,636,485
4,029,738 11,565,012
1,973,575 1,186,680
229,910 233,858
144,101 240,955
6,377,324 13,226,506
11,021 10,721
12,681,681 12,193,029
24,229,820 22,672,256
(66,846) (110,353)
(2,244,659) (2,244,859)
34,611,017 32,520,994

$ 50,672,668 $59,383,985
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XETA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended October 31, 2003 2002 2001
Systems sales $ 27,549,876 $ 27,852,358 $ 52,027,695
Instailation and service revenues 23,338,915 25,390,142 33,105,152
Other revenues 1,792,512 497778 921,182
Net sales and service revenues 52,681,303 53,740,278 86,054,029
Cost of systems sales 19,621,591 21,383,502 36,260,942
Installation and services costs 16,548,392 18,803,143 23,616,074
Cast of other revenues & corporate COGS 2,192,967 1,956,071 2,758,651
Total cost of sales and service 38,362,950 42,142,716 62,635,667
Gross profit 14,318,353 11,697,562 73,418,362
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative 11,030,671 10,279,299 14,459,740
Amortization 180,000 180,000 1,609,466
Total operating expenses 11,210,671 10,458,299 16,069,206
Income from operations 3,107,682 1,138,263 7,349,156
Interest expense (473,979) (887,274) (2,095,331)
Interest income and ather income {expense) (71,139) 1,196,250 471,812
Subtotal {545,118) 308,976 {1,623,519)
Income before provision for income taxes 2,562,564 1,447,239 5,725,637
Pravision for income taxes 1,005,000 569,000 2,245,000
Net income $ 1,557,564 $ 878,239 $ 3,480,637
Earnings per share
Basic $ 0.16 $ 0.09 $ 0.38
Diluted $ 0.16 3 0.09 $ 0.36
Weighted average shares — Basic 9,827,884 9,375,336 9,061,105
Weighted average shares — Diluted 9,960,098 9,866,162 9,698,048

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.




XETA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDER’ EQUITY

Common Stock

Treasury Stock

Comprehensive Retained

Shares Issued Par Value Shares Amount _ Paid-in Capital Loss Earnings Total

Balance October 31, 2000 9,662,736 $9.662 1,018,788 §(2,244659) 39486776 $§ — $18313,380 $25,565,159
Stock options exercised

$.001 par value 594,004 594 _ — 369,169 — — 369,763
Tax benefit of stack options — — — — 1,781,867 — - 1,781,867
Net Income — — — — — — 3480637 3,480,637
Balance October 31, 2001 10,256,740 10,256 1,018,788  (2,244653) 11,837,812 — 21,794,017 31,197,426
Stock options exercised

$.001 par value 465,000 465 — — 115,785 — — 116,250
Tax benefit of stock options — — - — 439,432 — — 439,432
Components of comprehensive income;

Net income — — — — — — 878,238 878,239

Unrealized gain/loss on hedge,

net of tax of $71,148 — —_ — — — (110,353} — {110,353) F-.5

Total comprehensive income 767,886
Balance October 31, 2002 10,721,740 10,721 1,018,788  (2,244,659) 12,193,029 {110,353) 22,672,256 32,520,994
Stock options exercised

$.001 par value 300,000 300 — — 74,700 — — 75,000
Tax benefit of stock options — — —_ — 413,952 — — 413,852
Compaonents of comprehensive income:

Net Income — — — — — — 1,657,564 1,557,564

Unrealized gain on hedge,

net of tax of $28,050 — — — — — 43507 — 43,507

Total comprehensive income — — — — — — —  1,601,0M

Balance October 31, 2003 11,021,740 $11,021 1,018,788 ${2,244,659) $12,681,681 §(56,846) $24,229,820 $34,611,017
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XETA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Far the Years Ended October 31, 2003 2002 2001
Cash flows from aperating activities:
Net income $ 1,557,564 $ 878,239 $ 3,480,637

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 971,439 1,167,226 1,004,518
Amortization 180,000 180,000 1,609,466
Loss on sale of assets 48,521 47,373 10,693
Provision for (reversal of) returns & doubtful accounts receivable (45,907) (748,200) 290,000
Provision for excess and absolete inventory 280,431 1,068,013 1,300,000
Change in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Decrease in net investment in sales-type leases & other receivables 135,311 2,093,243 1,488,208
Decrease in trade receivables 3,963,230 7,176,595 15,111,338
(Increase) decrease in inventories 1,906,448 139171 {2,548,903)
{Increase) decrease in deferred tax asset (293,109) 421,105 (502,687}
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets {99,146) 168,755 159,284
{Increase) decrease in prepaid taxes 1,195,539 {532,581) (662,958)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable {2,190,257) 1,571,788 {7,782,294)
{Decreass) in unearned revenue {462,367 {669,669) {2,794,181)
Increase in accrued income taxes 96,352 550,919 1,655,925
(Decrease} in accrued liabilities and other {260,861) {1,140,540) {2,107,597)
Increase in deferred tax liabilities 1,190,155 592,563 82,280
Total adjustments 6,615,839 12,085,761 6,313,092
Net cash provided by operating activities 8,173,403 12,964,000 9,793,729
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired — — {5,695,193)
Additians to property, plant & equipment {1,031,696) {2,121,298) {3,585,867)
Praceeds from sale of assets 2,568 48232 1,200
Net cash used in investing activities {1,029,128) {2,073,066) (9,179.,860)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of debt 1,125 — 5,500,000
Proceeds from draws on revolving line of credit 16,083,009 16,275,000 40,035,000
Principal payments on debt {9,615,089) (4,288,339) {11,162,073)
Payments on revolving line of credit {15,363,936) {21,625,000) {35,685,000)
Exercise of stock options 75,000 116,250 369,763
Net cash (used in) financing activities {8,819,891) (9,522,089) {942,310)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents {1,675,616) 1,368,845 (328,441)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 1,966,734 597,889 926,330
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 291,118 $ 1,966,734 $597,889
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for interest $ 784,006 $ 1,246,709 $2,760,516
Cash paid during the period for income taxes $ 13201 $ 409,404 $1.645.414
Contingent consideration paid to target shareholder(s) $ — $ 1,000,000 $2,000,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.




XETA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2003

1. BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
Business

XETA Technologies, Inc. (“XETA” or the “Company”) is a leading communications integrator with sales and
service locations nationwide, serving business clients in sales, consulting, engineering, project management,
installation, and service support. The Company sells products which are manufactured by a variety of manu-
facturers including Avaya, Nortel Networks, Cisco, Hitachi, and Hewlett Packard. In addition, the Company
provides XETA-manufactured call accounting systems to the hospitality industry. XETA is an Oklahoma
corporation.

During fiscal 2003, U.S. Technologies Systems, Inc. (USTI) was merged into XETA for tax purposes. There
was no impact on the Company’s financial statements. Formerly, UST was a wholly-owned subsidiary of XETA,
which was purchased on November 30, 1999 as part of the Company’s expansion into the commercial market.
Xetacom, Inc., is a wholly-owned, but dormant, subsidiary of the Company.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of money market accounts and commercial bank accounts.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instru-
ments for which it is practicable to estimate the value:

The carrying value of cash, customer deposits, trade accounts receivable, sales-type leases, accounts payable
and short-term debt approximate their respective fair values due to their short maturities.

The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is estimated based on the expected current rates which
would be offered to the Company for debt of the same maturities.

Revenue Recognition

Equipment revenues from systems sales are recognized upon shipment of the system. Installation and service
revenues are recognized upon the completion of the installation or service assignment. Service revenues earned
from contractual arrangements are recognized monthly over the life of the related service agreement on a
straight-line basis. The Company recognizes revenue from sales-type leases as discussed below under the caption
“Lease Accounting.”

Shipping and Handling Fees

In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 00-10, “Accounting for Shipping and Handling Fees
and Costs,” freight billed to customers is included in net sales and service revenues in the consolidated statements
of operations, while freight billed by vendors is included in cost of sales in the consolidated statements of
operations.
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Accounting for Manufacturer Incentives

The Company receives various forms of incentive payments, rebates, and negotiated price discounts from the
manufacturers of the products it sells. Rebates and negotated price discounts directly related to specific customer
sales are recorded as a reduction in the cost of goods sold on those systems sales. Incentive payments which are
based on purchasing certain product lines exclusively from one manufacturer (“loyalty rebates”) are also recorded
as a reduction in systems cost of goods sold. Rebates and other incentives designed to offset marketing expenses
and certain growth initiatives supported by the manufacturer are recorded as contra expense to the related expen-
diture. All incentive payments are recorded when earned under the specific rules of the incentive plan.

Lease Accounting

A small portion (less than 1%) of the Company’s revenues has been generated using sales-type leases. The
Company sells some of its call accounting systems to the lodging industry under sales-type leases to be paid over
three, four and five-year periods. Because the present value (computed at the rate implicit in the lease) of the
minimum payments under these sales-type leases equals or exceeds 90 percent of the fair market value of the sys-
tems and/or the length of the lease exceeds 75 percent of the estimated economic life of the equipment, the
Company recognizes the net effect of these transactions as a sale, as required by accounting principles generally
accepted in the U.S.

Interest and other income is primarily the recognition of interest income on the Company’s sales-type lease
receivables and income earned on short-term cash investments. Interest income from a sales-type lease represents
that portion of the aggregate payments to be received over the life of the lease, which exceeds the present value
of such payments using a discount factor equal to the rate implicit in the underlying leases.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts Receivable are recorded at amounts billed to customers less an allowance for doubtful accounts.
The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s assessment of the realizability of customers’ bal-
ances and any specific disputes. The Company recorded a reversal of the provision for doubtful accounts of
$45,907 and $748,200 for the years ended October 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and recorded net bad debt
expense of $290,000 for the year ended October 31, 2001.

Property, Plant and Equipment

The Company capitalizes the cost of all significant property, plant and equipment additions including equip-
ment manufactared by the Company and installed at customer locations under certain systems service agree-
ments. Depreciation is computed over the estimated useful life of the asset or the terms of the lease for leasehold
improvements, whichever is shorter, on a straight-line basis. When assets are retred or sold, the cost of the assets
and the related accumulated depreciation is removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included
in income. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. Interest costs related to an investment in long-
lived assets are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset during the period the asset is being prepared for use.
The Company capitalized $337,000, $277,000 and $131,000 in interest costs in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001,

respectively.
Research and Development and Capitalization of Software Production Costs

In the past, the Company developed proprietary telecommunications products related to the lodging indus-
try. The Company capitalized software production costs related to a product upon the establishment of techno-
logical feasibility as defined by accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. Amortization is provided on a
product-by-product basis based upon the estimated useful life of the software (generally seven years). All other
research and development costs (including those related to software for which technological feasibility has not



been established) are expensed as incurred. Since the Company’s expansion into the general commercial market
in fiscal 1999, the Company has ceased research and development of new products for the lodging market.

Software Development Costs

The Company applies the provisions of SOP 98-1, “Accounting for the Cost of Computer Software
Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.” Under SOP 98-1 external direct costs of software development, pay-
roll and payroll related costs for time spent on the project by employees directly associated with the development,
and interest costs incurred during the development, as provided under the provisions of SFAS No. 34,
“Capitalization of Interest Costs,” should be capitalized after the “preliminary project stage” has been completed.
Accordingly, the Company had capitalized $6.7 million and $5.9 million related to the software development as
of October 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company applies the provisions of SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” as amended. SFAS No. 133 requires companies to recognize all derivative instruments as either assets
or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value.

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company accounts for its stock-based awards granted to officers, directors and key employees using
APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Options under these plans are granted at fair
market value on the date of grant and thus no compensation cost has been recorded in the financial statements.
Accordingly, the Company follows fixed plan accounting. XETA applies the disclosure only provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS 123).

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensaton -
Transition and Disclosure — an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123” (“SFAS 148”). This statement provides
alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-
based employee compensation. It also amends the disclosure requirements of Statement 123 to require prominent
disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. Presently, the Company accounts
for stock-based employee compensation under the intrinsic value method, an alternative to the fair value method
allowed by SFAS 123. Under this alternative method, the Company is only required to disclose the impact of
issued stock options, as set forth below, as if the expense had been recorded in the financial statements.

For the Year Ended October 31, 2003 2002 2001
NET INCOME;
As reported $1,557,564 $ 878,239 $ 3,480,637

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under fair value based method for

all awards, net of related tax effects {701,520) (641,258} (666,184)

Pro forma $ 856,044 $ 236,981 $ 2,814,453
EARNINGS PER SHARE:

As reported — Basic $ 0.6 $ 009 $ 0.38

As reported — Diluted $ 0.6 § 009 $ 0.36
Pro forma — Basic 3 0.09 $ 0.03 $ 0.31
Pro forma — Diluted $ 0.09 $ 0.03 $ 0.29
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The fair value of the options granted was estimated at the date of grant using the Modified Black-Scholes
European pricing model with the following assumptions: risk free interest rate (3.42% to 5.78%), dividend yield
(0.00%), expected voladlity (80.50% to 86.64%), and expected life (6 years).

Income Taxes

Several items of income and expense, including certain sales revenues under sales-type leases, are included in
the financial statements in different years than they are included in the income tax returns. Deferred income taxes
are recorded for the tax effect of these differences.

Unearned Revenue and Warranty

For proprietary systems sold, the Company typically provides a one-year warranty from the date of installa-
tion of the system. The Company defers a portion of each system sale to be recognized as service revenue during
the warranty period. The amount deferred is generally equal to the sales price of a maintenance contract for the
type of system under warranty and the length of the warranty period. The Company also records deposits
received on sales orders and prepayments for maintenance contracts as unearned revenues. See “Unearned
Service Revenue” below.

Most of the systems sold by the Company are manufactured by third parties. In these instances the Company
passes on the manufacturer’s warranties to its customers and therefore does not maintain a warranty reserve for
this equipment. The Company maintains a small reserve for occasional labor costs associated with fulfilling war-
ranty requests from customers.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
U.S. requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and lia-
bilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Segment Information

The Company has three reportable segments: commercial system sales, lodging system sales and installation
and service. The Company defines commercial system sales as sales to the non-lodging industry. Installation and
service revenues represent revenues earned from installing and maintaining systems for customers in both the
commercial and lodging segments.

The reporting segments follow the same accounting policies used for the Company’s consolidated financial
statements and described in the summary of significant accounting policies. Company management evaluates a
segment’s performance based upon gross margins. Assets are not allocated to the segments. Sales to customers
located outside of the U.S. are immaterial.



The following is tabulation of business segment information for 2003, 2002 and 2001.

Commercial Lodging Instalfation
System System  and Service Other

Sales Sales Revenues Revenue Total
2003
Sales $21,304,223  $6,245653  $23,338915  $1,792512  $52,681,303
Cost of sales 15,279,565 4,342,026 16,548,392 2,192,967 38,362,950
Gross profit 6,024,658 1,903,627 6,790,523 (400,455) 14,318,353
2002
Sales $21,788576  $6,063,782  $25,390,142 § 497778  $53,740,278
Cost of sales 17,117,974 4,265,528 18,803,143 1,956,071 42,142,716
Gross profit 4,670,602 1,798,254 5,586,999 {1,458293}) 11,597,562
2001
Sales $41,964,072  $10,063623 $33,105152 § 921,182  §$86,054,029
Cost of sales 29,811,902 6,449,040 23,616,074 2,758,651 62,635,667
Gross profit 12,152,170 3614583 9,489,078 (1,837,469) 23,418,362

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 149”). This statement amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for
derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts (collectively referred
to as derivatives) and for hedging activities under SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities.” In particular, this statement (1) clarifies under what circumstances a contract with an initial
net investment meets the characteristic of a derivative, (2) clarifies when a derivative contains a financing compo-
nent, (3) amends the definition of an underlying instrument to conform it to language used in FASB
Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” and (4) amends certain other existing pronouncements. Those changes
will result in more consistent reporting of contracts as either derivatives or hybrid instruments. SFAS 149 is
effective for derivative contracts entered into after June 30, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 149 is not expected to
have a material impact on the Company’s operating results, financial position, or cash flows.

SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and
Equity” (“SFAS 1507) was issued in May 2003. This Statement establishes standards for how certain financial
instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity are classified and measured. It requires that many
financial instruments previously classified as equity now be classified as a liability (or an asset in some circum-
stances). These financial instruments are as follows: financial instrument issued in the form of shares that is
mandatorily redeemable — that embodies an unconditional obligation requiring the issuer to redeem it by trans-
ferring its assets at a specified or determinable date (or dates) or upon an event that is certain to occur; a financial
instrument, other than an outstanding share, that, at inception, embodies an obligation to repurchase the issuer’s
equity shares, or is indexed to such an obligation, and that requires or may require the issuer to settle the obliga-
tion by transferring assets; a financial instrument that embodies an unconditional obligation, or a financial instru-
ment other than an outstanding share that embodies a conditional obligation, that the issuer must or may settle
by issuing a variable number of its equity shares, if, at inception, the monetary value of the obligation is based
solely or predominantly on any of the following: a) a fixed monetary amount known at inception, for example, a
payable settleable with a variable number of equity shares; b) variations in something other than the fair value of
equity shares, for example, a financial instrument indexed to the S&P 500 and settleable with a variable number
of equity shares; ¢) variations inversely related to changes in the fair value of equity shares, for example, a written

F-11




put option that could be net share setded. SFAS 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modi-
fied after May 31, 2003, and otherwise effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June
15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 150 is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s operating results,
financial position, or cash flows.

Goodwill

The Company elected to early adopt Financial Accounting Statement No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” on November 1, 2001. Under SFAS 142, goodwill recorded as a part of a business combination
is no longer amortized, but instead will be subject to at least an annual assessment for impairment by applying a
fair-value-based test. As required by the new standard, the Company conducted an initial fair-value-based good-
will impairment test to determine if the carrying value of the goodwill on the balance sheet was impaired. To
assist management in their initial fair-value assessment, the Company engaged an independent valuation consult-
ant. The results of management’s assessment indicated that no impairment existed in the value of recorded good-
will on the Company’s books as of November 1, 2001. Additional impairment tests have been conducted by the
Company shortly after the close of its fiscal year on both October 31, 2003 and 2002. The results of each of these
appraisals indicated that the fair value of the Company’s reporting units in which goodwill is associated was high-
er than their respective carrying values on the balance sheet. Therefore no impairment loss was recognized. An
annual impairment test will be conducted in future periods shortly after the close of the Company’s fiscal year.

The following table reconciles the impact on net income of the adoption of SFAS 142:

For the year ended October 31, 2003 2002 2001
Reported net income $1,557,564 $ 878,239 $ 3,480,637
Add back: Goodwill amortization — — 869,115
Adjusted net income $1,557,564 $ 878,239 $ 4,349,752
Basic Earnings Per Share:
Reported net income $ 0716 $ 009 $ 0.38
Add back: Goodwill amortization — — 0.10
Adjusted net income $§ 016 $§ 009 $ 0.48
Diluted Earnings Per Share:
Reported net income $ 016 $ 009 $ 0.36
Add back: Goodwill amortization — — 0.09
Adjusted net income $ 016 $ 009 $ 0.45

The goodwill for tax purposes associated with the acquisition of UST exceeded the goodwill recorded on the
financial statements by $1,462,000. The Company is reducing the goodwill recorded on the financial statements
for the tax effect and the “tax-on-tax” effect of the $1,462,000 basis difference over a 15-year period. Accrued
income taxes and deferred tax liabilities are being reduced as well. The Company reduced the carrying value of
goodwill by $55,576 and $162,094 for the impact of the basis difference for the years ended October 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively.



Other Intangible Assets

As of October 31, 2003 As of October 31, 2002
Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Carrying  Accumulated
Amount Amartization Amount  Amortization

Amortized intangible assets:
Software production costs $1,291,021 $1,233,066 $1,291,027 $1,053,066
Other 190,780 134,089 190,780 93,564
Total amortized intangible assets $1,481,801 $1,367,155 $1,481,801 $1,146,630

Aggregate amortization expense of intangible assets was $220,525 and $219,430 for the years ended
October 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, which includes $40,525 and $39,430 recorded as interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended October 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
estimated aggregate amortization expense for the next five fiscal years is $114,646 for 2004; and $0 thereafter.

2. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE:

Trade accounts receivable consist of the following at October 31:

2003 2002
Trade receivables $6,130,490  $9.824222
Less reserve for doubtful accounts 335,541 345516
Net trade receivables $5794,949  $9.478,706

Adjustments to the reserve for doubtful accounts consist of the following at October 31:

2003 2002
Balance, beginning of period $ 345516  $1,298,245
Reversal of provision for doubtful accounts {45,907) {748,200)
Net write-offs 35,932 (204,529)
Balance, end of period $ 335541 § 345516

3. INVENTORIES:

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out or weighted-average) or market and consist of the
following components at October 31:

2003 2002

Raw materials $366,305  § 354,380
Finished goods and spare parts 6,430,977 8,234,020
6,797,282 8,588,400

Less reserve for excess and obsolete inventories 1,182,380 786,619
Total inventories, net $5,614,902 $7,801,781

Adjustments to the reserve for excess and obsolete inventories consist of the following:

2003 2002

Balance, beginning of period $ 786619  $1,687,233
Provision for excess and obsolete inventories 280,431 1,068,013
Adjustments to inventories 115,330 (1,968,627)

Balance, end of period $1,182380 § 786,619
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4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following at October 31:

Building

Data processing and computer field equipment
Software development costs

Land

Office furniture

Auto

Other

Total property, plant and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation

Total property, plant and equipment, net

5. ACCRUED LIABILITIES:

Accrued liabilities consist of the following at October 31:

Commissions

Interest

Payroll

Bonuses

Vacation

Other

Total current
Noncurrent liabilities
Total accrued liabilities

6. UNEARNED SERVICE REVENUE:

Unearned service revenue consists of the following at October 31:

Service contracts

Warranty service

Customer deposits

Systems shipped but not installed

Other

Total current unearned revenue

Noncurrent unearred service contract revenue
Total unearned revenue

Estimated
Useful
Lives 2003 2002
20 $2397,954  $ 2,397,954
35 4,280,916 4,121,640
N/A 6,687,540 5,889,556
— 611,582 611,582
5 1,108,029 1,073,851
5 126,743 126,743
3-7 511,320 634,213
15,724,084 14,855,539
5,257,260 4,397,821
$10,466,824  $10,457,718
2003 2002
$ 371,765 § 428,460
13,413 11,265
424,243 N7171
363,794 213,735
436,784 481,228
259,025 416,912
1,869,024 1,968,771
144,101 240,955
$2013125  § 2,209,726
2003 2002
$ 640,922 § 785067
344,192 366,586
488,137 897,171
99,490 28,866
47 582 1,061
1,620,323 2,078 741
229,910 233,858
$ 1,850,233  § 2,312,600




7. INCOME TAXES:
Income tax expense is based on pretax income. Deferred income taxes are computed using the asset-liability
method in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” and are provided on all temporary

differences between the financial basis and the tax basis of the Company’ assets and liabilities.

The income tax provision for the years ending October 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, consists of the following:

2003 2002 2001

Current provision (benefit) — federal $ 484,930 $ (384,790} $ 1,630,630
Current provision (benefit) — state 97,590 {22.910) 350,800
Deferred provision 422,480 976,700 263,670
Total provision $1,005,000 $ 569,000 § 2245000

The reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended October 31, 2003 2002 2001
Statutory rate 34% 34% 34%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 5% 5% 5%
Effective rate 39% 39% 39%

The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities as of October 31 are presented below:

2003 2002
Deferred tax assets:

Currently nondeductible reserves $ 453413 $ 299530
Accrued liabilities 345,021 166,762
Prepaid service contracts 107,310 168,210
Unamortized cost of service contracts 19,338 52,788
Other 111,605 119,418
Total deferred tax asset 1,036,687 806,708

Deferred tax liabilities:
Tax income to be recognized on sales-type lease contracts 27,000 50,062
Unamortized capitalized software development costs 22,718 93,279
Depreciation and sale of assets 454,694 307,234
Intangible assets 1,620,098 950,170
Total deferred tax liability 2,124,510 1,400,745
Net deferred tax liability ${1,087,823) § (594,037)

8. CREDIT AGREEMENTS:

On October 1, 2003, the Company entered into a new revolving credit and term loan agreement with a new
banking institution, replacing the previous credit facility and bank syndicate. This new agreement contains three
separate notes: a term loan amortizing over 36 months, a mortgage agreement amortizing over 13 years, and a
$7.5 million revolving credit agreement to finance growth in working capital. Availability under the revolving line
of credit is secured by trade accounts receivable and inventories. The Company had approximately $5.2 million
available under the revolving line of credit at October 31, 2003. Advance rates are defined in the agreement, but
are generally at the rate of 80% on qualified trade accounts receivable and 40% of qualified inventories. The
revolving line of credit matures on September 29, 2004. At October 31, 2003, long-term debt consisted of the
following:




October 31, 2003 2002

Term loan, payable in monthly installments of $86,524, due
September 30, 2006 collateralized by all assets of the Company. $ 3,029,041  $12,473,349

Real estate term note, payable in monthly instaliments of $14,166,
due September 30, 2008, secured by a first mortgage on the Company’s building. 2,210,342 2,380,000

5,238,383 14,853,349

Less current maturities 1,209,645 3,288,337

$ 4,029,738  $11,565,012

Maturities of long-term debt for each of the years ended October 31, are as follows:

2004 $1,209,645
2005 $1,209,645
2006 $2,820,093

Interest on all outstanding debt under the credit facility accrues at either a) the London Interbank Offered
Rate (which was 1.12% at October 31, 2003) plus 1.25% to 2.75% depending on the Company’s funded debt to
cash flow ratio, or b) the bank’s prime rate (which was 4.00% at October 31, 2003) minus 0% to minus 1.125%
also depending on the Company’s funded debt to cash flow ratio. At October 31, 2003, the Company was paying
3.13% on the revolving line of credit borrowings, 3.12% on the term loan and 2.87% on the mortgage note. The
credit facility contains several financial covenants common in such agreements including tangible net worth
requirements, limitations on the amount of funded debt to EBITDA, limitations on capital spending, and debt
service coverage requirements. At October 31, 2003, the Company was in compliance with all of the covenants
contained in the agreement.

Based on the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for bank loans with similar terms and aver-
age maturities, the fair value of the long-term debt approximates the carrying value.

9. DERIVATIVES AND RISK MANAGEMENT:

The Company has an outstanding interest rate swap in a notional amount of $6.2 million which expires in
November, 2004. Under this contract, the Company pays a fixed interest rate of 3.32% and receives a variable
interest payment based on one-month LIBOR rates. The Company currently pays an additional 1.25% to 2.75%
above LIBOR or the bank’s prime rate (4.0% on October 31, 2003) less 0.0% to 1.25125% on the various pieces
of its credit facility. SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended
by SFAS 137 and SFAS 138 governs the accounting for derivative instruments such as interest rate swaps. Under
the provisions of SFAS No. 133, as long as the interest rate hedge is “effective”, as defined in the standard, the
Company’s interest rate swap is accounted for by recognizing an asset or liability at fair value with the offsetting
entry to other comprehensive income or loss in Company’s stockholders’ equity section. Accordingly, the
Company has recognized a current liability and other comprehensive loss of $66,846 at October 31, 2003. No
material ineffective portion of the interest rate swap existed at October 31, 2003.

10. STOCK OPTIONS:
During fiscal 2000, the Company adopted a new stock option plan (2000 Plan) for officers, directors and key

employees. The 2000 Plan replaces the previous 1988 Plan, which had expired. Under the 2000 Plan, the Board
of Directors or a committee thereof determine the option price, not to be less than fair market value at the date




of grant, number of options granted, and the vesting period. Although there are exceptions, generally options
that have been granted under the 2000 Plan expire 10 years from the date of grant, have 3-year cliff-vesting and
are incentive stock options as defined under the applicable IRS tax rules. Options granted under the previous
1988 Plan generally vested 33 1/3% per vear after a 1-year waiting period.

Qutstanding Options

{1988 and 2000 Plans)

Number Price Per Share
Balance, October 31, 2000 474 644 $025-18.13
Granted 119,350 531 ~11.63
Exercised {94,004) 025 - 438
Forfeited {58,850) 9.06 - 8.13
Balance, October 31, 2001 441,140 031 -18.13
Granted 277,900 3.63 - 5.80
Exercised - -
Forfeited {44,100) 3.63 -18.13
Balance, October 31, 2002 674,940 0.31 -18.13
Granted 5,000 3.00
Exercised - -
Forfeited {56,340) 363 -18.13
Balance, October 31, 2003 623,600 $ 031 -18.13

The Company has also granted options outside the Plan to certain officers and directors. These options
generally expire ten years from the date of grant and are exercisable over the period stated in each option. The
table below presents information regarding options granted outside the Plan.

Outstanding Options

{1988 and 2000 Plans)
Number Price Per Share
Balance, Octaber 31, 2000 2,150,400 $ 025 —1553
Exercised {500,000} 0.25 - 0.25
Forfeited {200,000) 581
Balance, October 31, 2001 1,450,400 0.25 -15.53
Granted - -
Exercised {465,000} 0.25
Balance, October 31, 2002 985,400 0.25 —15.63
Granted - -
Exercised {300,000) 0.25
Forfeited - -
Balance, October 31, 2003 685,400 $ 0.38 —15.53
The following is a summary of stock options outstanding as of October 31, 2003:
Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Number Weighted Remaining Number Weighted
Range of Exercise Outstanding at Average Contractual Life Exercisable at Average
Prices October 31, 2003 Exercise Price {Years) October 31, 2003 Exercise Price
$0.31-1.64 110,072 $ 0.81 0.08 110,072 $ 081
$3.63-5.81 956,928 $ 5.1 6.20 686,001 $ 564
$9.06-12.31 62,450 $10.07 6.60 19,900 $ 3915

$15.53-18.13 179,550 $17.55 6.40 173,950 $17.55




11. EARNINGS PER SHARE:

All basic earnings per common share were computed by dividing net income by the weighted average num-
ber of shares of common stock outstanding during the reporting period. A reconciliation of net income and
weighted average shares used in computing basic and diluted earnings per share is as follows:

For the Year Ended October 31, 2003

Income Shares Per Share
(Numerator) {Denominator) Amount
Basic EPS
Net income $1,557,564 9,827,884 $0.16
Dilutive effect of stock options 132,214
Diluted EPS
Net income $1,557,564 9,960,098 $0.16
For the Year Ended October 31, 2002
Income Shares Per Share
(Numerator) {Denominator) Amount
Basic EPS
Net income $ 878,239 9,375,336 $0.09
Dilutive effect of stock options 490,826
Diluted EPS
Net income $ 878,239 9,866,162 $0.09
For the Year Ended QOctober 31, 2001
Income Shares Per Share
(Numerator) {Denominatar) Amount
Basic EPS
Net income $3,480,637 9,061,105 $0.38
Dilutive effect of stock options 636,943
Diluted EPS
Net income $3,480,637 9,698,048 $0.36

For the years ended October 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively, 1,226,268 shares at an average price of
$7.22; 1,001,501 shares at an average price of $8.18; and 319,900 shares at an average price of $14.26, were
excluded from the calculation of earnings per share because they were antidilutive.



12. FINANCING RECEIVABLES:

A small portion of the Company’s systems sales are made under sales-type lease agreements with the end-
users of the equipment. These receivables are secured by the cash flows under the leases and the equipment
installed at the customers’ premises. Minimum future annual payments to be received under various leases are as
follows for years ending October 31,:

Sales-Type
Lease Payments

Receivable

2004 $977,074

2005 278,938

2006 159,547

2007 7.419

2008 -
1,422,978

Less imputed interest 169,870
Present value of minimum payments $1,253,108

13. MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK:
During fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, no single customer represented 10 percent or more of revenues.

The Company extends credit to its customers in the normal course of business, including under its sales-type
lease program. As a result, the Company is subject to changes in the economic and regulatory environments or
other conditions, which in turn, may impact the Company’s overall credit risk. However, the Company sells to a
wide variety of customers, and except for its hospitality customers, does not focus its sales and marketing efforts
on any particular industry. Management considers the Company’s credit risk to be satisfactorily diversified and
believes that the allowance for doubtful accounts is adequate to absorb estimated losses at October 31, 2003.

The majority of the Company’s systems sales are derived from sales of equipment designed and marketed by
Avaya. As such, the Company is subject to the risks associated with Avaya’s financial condition, ability to continue
to develop and market leading-edge technology systems, and the soundness of their long-term product strategies.
A single third-party company manufactures this equipment under an outsourcing agreement with Avaya. This
arrangement subjects the Company to potential shipment delays in the event of financial difficulties incurred by
the manufacturer and man-made or natural disasters to the manufacturing facility. The Company purchases most
of its Avaya products from a single distributor under a three-party agreement between the Company, Avaya, and
the distributor. However, Avaya has several other distributors of its products and the Company believes that its
distribution arrangement could be converted to another provider quickly enough so as to not to materially dis-
rupt its business.

In June, 2003, the Company signed a dealership agreement to represent the Nortel Networks product line in
the U.S.

14. EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS:

The Company has two incentive compensation plans: one for sales professionals and one for all other
employees. The bonus plan for sales professionals is based on a percentage of their “contribution”, defined as the
gross profit generated less their direct and allocated sales expenses. The Company paid $224,907, $104,031, and
$248,985 during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, under the sales professionals’ bonus plan. The Employee
Bonus Plan (“EBP”) provides an annual incentive compensation opportunity for senior executives and other




employees designated by senior management and the Board of Directors as key employees. The purpose of the
EBP is to provide an incentive for senior executives to reach Company-wide targeted financial objectives and to
reward key employees for leadership and excellent performance. Those targeted results were not fully achieved in
fiscal 2003, 2002 or 2001; however, the Company elected to pay partial bonuses of approximately $240,000,
$180,000 and $157,500, respectively.

15. CONTINGENCIES:
Lease Commitments

Future minimum commitments under non-cancelable leases for office space and equipment are approximately
$272,000, $86,000, $40,000, and $18,000 in fiscal years 2004 through 2008, respectively.

Litigation

On August 1, 2003, the Software & Information Industry Association (“SIIA”), an association of software
publishers, contacted the Company by letter and claimed that XETA had violated the Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §
501, et seq. by allegedly using unlicensed software in XETA’ business. SIIA made demand that the Company
audit all of its computers and servers to determine whether it used both licensed and/or allegedly unlicensed soft-
ware for any of SIJAs 965 members. This audit was conducted and the Company determined that some software
present on a limited number of Company computers was unlicensed. Many of these programs were located on
personal computers utilized by employees for both personal and business use, or on computers that were “inher-
ited” through the Company’s various acquisitions and were most likely loaded prior to XETA’s acquisidon of
these companies. Nevertheless, XETA has potential exposure to damages under the law for possessing unlicensed
software and has recorded a loss contingency representing Management’s best estimate of the potential damages
based upon available facts of the claim at the present time. While no assurance can be given, based upon the cur-
rent status of the claim Management does not believe that the ultimate damages will exceed the current Joss con-
tingency in an amount that would materially impact the Company’s results of operations. The Company initiated
settlement negotiations with SIIA which later stalled because the nature of XETA’s liability and the amount of
damages due STIA was in dispute. The Company therefore filed a declaratory judgment in the U.S. District
Court for the Northern District of Oklahoma seeking a judicial determination of liability and damages. This
action is still pending.

Since 1994, we have been monitoring numerous patent infringement lawsuits filed by Phonometrics, Inc., a
Florida company, against certain telecommunications equipment manufacturers and hotels who use such equip-
ment. While we were never named as a defendant in any of these cases, several of our call accounting customers
were named defendants and notified us that they will seek indemnification under the terms of their contracts with
us. However, because there were other equipment vendors implicated along with us in the cases filed against our
customers, we never assumed the outright defense of our customers in any of these actions. All of the cases filed
by Phonometrics against our customers were originally filed in, or transferred to, the United States District
Court for the Southern District of Florida. In October 1998, the Florida Court dismissed all of the cases filed
against the hotels for failure to state a claim. After years of appeals by Phonometrics, all of which were lost on the
merits, a final order dismissing the cases with prejudice was entered in November 2002, and the defendant hotels
have been awarded attorney fees and costs against both Phonometrics and its legal counsel. Phonometrics contin-
ues to dispute the amount of fees awarded in some cases, and this issue continues to be litigated by Phonometrics.



16. RETIREMENT PLAN:

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan (Plan). In addition to employee contributions, the Company
makes discretionary matching and profit sharing contributions to the Plan based on percentages set by the Board
of Directors. Contributions made by the Company to the Plan were approximately $457,000, $482,000 and
$534,000 for the years ending October 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

17. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED):

The following quarterly financial data has been prepared from the financial records of the Company without
an audit, and reflects all adjustments, which in the opinion of management, were of a normal, recurring nature
and necessary for a fair presentation of the results of operations for the interim periods presented.

For the Fiscal Year Ended October 31, 2003

Quarter Ended

January 31, Aprit 30, July 31, October 31,
2003 2003 2003 2003
(in thousands, except per share data) ’
Net sales $15,431 $11,765 $12,910 $12,575
Gross profit 3919 3,436 3,561 3,402
Operating income 937 637 742 792
Net income 491 313 376 378
Basic EPS $0.05 $0.03 $0.04 $0.04
Diluted EPS $0.05 $0.03 $0.04 $0.04

For the Fiscal Year Ended October 31, 2002

Quarter Ended
January 31, April 30, July 31, October 317,
2002 2002 2002 2002
{in thousands, except per share data)

Net sales $13,763 $12,559 $12,808 $14,610
Gross profit 3.258 2914 2,139 3,285
Operating income 593 154 (67) 452
Net income 276 7 129 466
Basic EPS $0.03 $0.00 $0.01 $0.05

Diluted EPS $0.03 $0.00 $§0.01 $0.05
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Board of Directors Corporate Office
From left to right, back row: XETA Technologies, Inc.
1814 West Tacoma
Jack R. Ingram Broken Arrow, 0K 74012-1406
Chief Executive Officer and President, 918-664-8200

XETA Technologies, Inc.

Donald T. Duke
President,
Duke Resources Company, LLC

Robert D. Hisrich, Ph.D.

Professor of Marketing and Policy Studies,
Weatherhead School of Management,
Case Western Reserve University

From left to right, front row:

Ron B. Barber
Shareholder, Barber & Bartz,
A Professional Corporation
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